
FORM 5 
 

QUARTERLY LISTING STATEMENT  

Name of Listed Issuer: ___Sharc International Systems Inc._________ (the “Issuer”). 

Trading Symbol: SHRC  

This Quarterly Listing Statement must be posted on or before the day on which the 
Issuer’s unaudited interim financial statements are to be filed under the Securities Act, or, 
if  no interim statements are required to be filed for the quarter, within 60 days of the end 
of the Issuer’s first, second and third fiscal quarters.  This statement is not intended to 
replace the Issuer’s obligation to separately report material information forthwith upon the 
information becoming known to management or to post the forms required by the 
Exchange Policies.  If material information became known and was reported during the 
preceding quarter to which this statement relates, management is encouraged to also 
make reference in this statement to the material information, the news release date and 
the posting date on the Exchange website. 

General Instructions 

(a) Prepare this Quarterly Listing Statement using the format set out below.  The 
sequence of questions must not be altered nor should questions be omitted or left 
unanswered.  The answers to the following items must be in narrative form.  When 
the answer to any item is negative or not applicable to the Issuer, state it in a 
sentence.  The title to each item must precede the answer. 

(b) The term “Issuer” includes the Listed Issuer and any of its subsidiaries. 

(c) Terms used and not defined in this form are defined or interpreted in Policy 1 – 
Interpretation and General Provisions. 

 
There are three schedules which must be attached to this report as follows: 
 
SCHEDULE A:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Financial statements are required as follows: 
 
For the first, second and third financial quarters interim financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the requirements under Ontario securities law must be attached. 
 
If the Issuer is exempt from filing certain interim financial statements, give the date of 
the exempting order. 
 
Unaudited condensed interim financial statements for the nine-month period 
ended September 30, 2023, as filed with the securities regulatory authorities, are 
attached to this form as Appendix I. 



 
SCHEDULE B:  SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

The supplementary information set out below must be provided when not included 
in Schedule A. 

 
1. Related party transactions 
 

Provide disclosure of all transactions with a Related Person, including those 
previously disclosed on Form 10. Include in the disclosure the following information 
about the transactions with Related Persons: 
 
(a) A description of the relationship between the transacting parties.  Be as 

precise as possible in this description of the relationship.  Terms such as 
affiliate, associate or related company without further clarifying details are 
not sufficient. 

(b) A description of the transaction(s), including those for which no amount has 
been recorded. 

(c) The recorded amount of the transactions classified by financial statement 
category. 

(d) The amounts due to or from Related Persons and the terms and conditions 
relating thereto. 

(e) Contractual obligations with Related Persons, separate from other 
contractual obligations. 

(f) Contingencies involving Related Persons, separate from other 
contingencies. 
 

All related party transactions have been disclosed in the Issuer’s financial 
statements for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023. Please 
refer to Note 8 to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial 
statements for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2023, attached 
hereto as Appendix I (the “Financial Statements”). For information 
supplementary to that contained in the notes to the Financial Statements 
with respect to related party transactions, please refer to the Management 
Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for the nine-month period ended 
September 30, 2023, as filed with the securities regulatory authorities and 
attached to this Form 5 as Appendix II. 
 

2. Summary of securities issued, and options granted during the period. 
 

All securities issued and options granted, if any, have been disclosed in the 
Issuer’s Financial Statements, attached hereto as Appendix I.  

 
Provide the following information for the period beginning on the date of the last 
Listing Statement (Form 2A): 
 
(a) summary of securities issued during the period, 
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(common 

shares, 

convertible 
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(private 
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(b) summary of options granted during the period, 
 

 

 

Date 

 

 

Number 

 

Name of Optionee 

if Related Person 

and relationship 

 

Generic description 

of other Optionees 

 

 

Exercise Price 

 

 

Expiry Date 

 

Market 

Price on 

date of 

Grant 

2023-Oct-18 50,000 Peter Busby, Director  $0.245 2028-Oct-18 $0.245 

2023-Oct-18 50,000 Dermot Sweeny, Director  $0.245 2028-Oct-18 $0.245 

       

 
3. Summary of securities as at the end of the reporting period.  
 
A summary of securities as at the end of the reporting period have been disclosed 
in the Issuer’s Financial Statements, attached here to as Appendix I.  
 

Provide the following information in tabular format as at the end of the reporting 
period: 
 
(a) description of authorized share capital including number of shares for each 

class, dividend rates on preferred shares and whether or not cumulative, 
redemption and conversion provisions, 

 
(b) number and recorded value for shares issued and outstanding, 

 
(c) description of options, warrants and convertible securities outstanding, 

including number or amount, exercise or conversion price and expiry date, 
and any recorded value, and 

 
(d) number of shares in each class of shares subject to escrow or pooling 

agreements or any other restriction on transfer. 



 
4. List the names of the directors and officers, with an indication of the 

position(s) held, as at the date this report is signed and filed. 
 

Name Position 
Daryle Anderson Director 
Peter Busby Director 
Eleanor Chiu Director 
Mike Harcourt Director 
Dermot Sweeny Director 
Lynn Mueller Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Hanspaul Pannu Chief Financial Officer & Chief Operating Officer 
Michael Albertson President of SHARC Energy (US) Systems Inc. 

 
 
SCHEDULE C: MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Provide Interim MD&A if required by applicable securities legislation. 

 
See MD&A, attached hereto as Appendix II. 

 
[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

  



Certificate Of Compliance 

The undersigned hereby certifies that: 

1. The undersigned is a director and/or senior officer of the Issuer and has been 
duly authorized by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer to sign 
this Quarterly Listing Statement. 

2. As of the date hereof there is no material information concerning the Issuer 
which has not been publicly disclosed. 

3. The undersigned hereby certifies to the Exchange that the Issuer is in 
compliance with the requirements of applicable securities legislation (as such 
term is defined in National Instrument 14-101) and all Exchange Requirements 
(as defined in CNSX Policy 1). 

4. All of the information in this Form 5 Quarterly Listing Statement is true. 

Dated _November 29, 2023. 

 Hanspaul Pannu  
Name of Director or Senior Officer 

 “Hanspaul Pannu”  
Signature 

Chief Financial Officer & Chief 
Operating Officer  
Official Capacity 

 
Issuer Details 
Name of Issuer 

Sharc International Systems Inc. 

For  Quarter 
Ended  
September 30, 
2023 

Date of Report 
YY/MM/D 
23/11/29 

Issuer Address 
1443 Spitfire Place Port Coquitlam, BC V3C 6L4 
 
City/Province/Postal Code 
1443 Spitfire Place Port Coquitlam, BC V3C 6L4 
 
 
 

Issuer Fax No. 
(778) 262-0120 

Issuer Telephone No. 
(604)475-7710 

Contact Name 
Hanspaul Pannu 
 

Contact Position 
CFO 

Contact Telephone No. 
(604) 475-7710 

Contact Email Address 
info@sharcenergy.com 
 

Web Site Address 
www.sharcenergy.com 
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SHARC INTERNATIONAL SYSTEMS INC.  
Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023  
 
Unaudited 
Expressed in Canadian dollars 

 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SHARC INTERNATIONAL SYSTEMS INC. 
 

Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3) (a), if an auditor has not performed a review of the 
condensed financial statements; the statements must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the financial 
statements have not been reviewed by an auditor.  
 
The Company’s independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in accordance with 
standards established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants for a review of financial information by an 
entity’s auditor.  
 
Management has prepared the information and representations in this interim report. The condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and, 
where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates and judgment. The financial information presented 
throughout this report is consistent with the data presented in the condensed financial statements.  
 
The company maintains adequate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls, consistent with 
reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial 
information is produced. 
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SHARC International Systems Inc. 

Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Financial Position 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  
  September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022 
  (unaudited) (audited) 
  Note $ $ 
ASSETS    
Current    

Cash 2,004,856 1,069,813 
Receivables 4 610,743 522,079 
Prepaid expenses 70,110 80,867 
Inventory 5 1,395,262 970,834 

Total current assets  4,080,971 2,643,593 

    
Restricted cash 6 50,000 50,000 
Deposits 51,200 51,200 
Property and equipment 7 300,874 409,176 

Total assets   4,483,045 3,153,969 
  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)  
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 411,904 1,002,618 
Deferred revenue 9 12,511 18,534 
Convertible debentures 10 - 3,733,871 
Lease liabilities 11 129,123 118,062 

Total current liabilities  553,538 4,873,085 

    
Warranty provisions 93,705 85,720 
Lease liabilities 11 42,876 141,149 

Total Liabilities   672,051 5,099,954 

    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)    

Share capital 12 35,045,174 26,324,022 
Reserves 12 5,272,439 4,441,397 
Currency translation reserve (8,751) 1,727 
Convertible debentures, equity component 10 178,714 684,016 
Deficit (36,694,650) (33,397,147) 

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency)   3,792,926 (1,945,985) 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficiency) 4,483,045 3,153,969 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

 
Nature of Operations and Going Concern [Note 1]    
 
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors on November 28, 2023: 
 
/s/ Lynn Mueller /s/ Eleanor Chiu   

             Director      Director 
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SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Loss  

and Comprehensive Loss 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

  Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30, 

  2023 2022 2023 2022 
  Note $ $ $ $ 
Revenue  545,350   81,799   1,733,490   1,132,588  
Cost of Sales  (329,833) (26,129) (988,742) (762,288) 
Gross Margin    215,517   55,670   744,748   370,300  
Expenses      

Accounting and legal    52,139   56,131   148,198   188,470  
Advertising and promotion   64,719   67,525   200,455   232,528  
Consulting 8  53,361   50,755   179,963   212,469  
Depreciation 7  36,873   37,313   118,653   109,056  
Insurance   15,702   13,305   46,164   37,732  
Interest and financing expense 10,11  5,407   186,986   240,068   666,998  
Office and miscellaneous   26,738   26,751   77,990   95,642  
Regulatory and filing fees   22,050   10,258   49,780   63,876  
Rent    12,000   12,000   36,000   36,000  
Repairs and maintenance  5,718   7,130   12,192   23,545  
Research and development  -   19,063   14,664   32,960  
Share-based payments 8,12  243,240   578,829   1,344,268   784,465  
Telephone and utilities   21,808   29,650   67,127   79,416  
Travel   55,415   48,423   118,593   145,387  
Wages and benefits 8  517,997   406,911   1,389,174   1,229,152  
Warranty expense   -   -     -   20,778  

     1,133,167   1,551,030   4,043,289   3,958,474  
      

  (917,650) (1,495,360) (3,298,541) (3,588,174) 
Interest income   8,986   5,472   15,714   11,222  
Foreign exchange   3,542   26,088  (14,722)  36,574  

Loss before income taxes   (905,122) (1,463,800) (3,297,549) (3,540,378) 
Deferred tax recovery   -   797   46   1,145  

Loss for the period   (905,122) (1,463,003) (3,297,503) (3,539,233) 
Other comprehensive income      

Foreign currency translation  (5,233)  175  (8,751)  612  
Loss and comprehensive  
loss for the period   

(910,355) (1,462,828) (3,306,254) (3,538,621) 

Basic and diluted loss per  
common share  

(0.01) (0.01) (0.02) (0.03) 

Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding – basic and diluted 
  

 156,949,660   106,017,479  140,762,730   103,811,064  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 
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SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency) 

(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

 Common Shares   Reserves   

Currency 
translation 

reserve   
Convertible 

Debenture   Deficit   Total   

 Number   $   $   $   $   $   $   
Balance, December 31, 2021 100,705,192  24,428,640  3,855,815        -    756,941  (28,584,373)   457,023  

Stock Option exercise 716,667 147,917  - - - 147,917 
Fair Value of stock options exercised - 118,347 (118,347) - - - - 
Warrants exercise 1,695,714 422,178  - - - 422,178 
Fair value increment of warrants exercised - 65,864 (65,864) - - - - 
Issuance of convertible debt - - 1,187 - 1,912 - 3,099 
Conversion of convertible debt 3,137,292 901,751 - - (68,479) - 833,272 
Settlement of RSU Units 349,701 117,150 (117,150) - - - - 
Share-based payments - - 784,465 - - - 784,465 
Reversal of expired & forfeited options - - (5,184) - - 5,184 - 
Currency translation adjustment - - - 612 - - 612 
Comprehensive loss for the period - - - - - (3,539,233) (3,539,233) 

Balance, September 30, 2022 106,604,566 26,201,847 4,334,922 612 690,374 (32,118,422) (890,667) 
Warrants exercise 245,000 49,000 - - - - 49,000 
Fair value of warrants exercised - 5,972 (5,972) - - - - 
Issuance of convertible debt - - 9 - - - 9 
Conversion of convertible debt 650,000 67,203 - - (6,358) - 60,845 
Settlement of RSU Units - - - - - - - 
Share-based payments - - 112,446 - - - 112,446 
Reversal of expired and forfeited options - - (8) - - 8 - 
Currency translation adjustment - - - 1,115 - - 1,115 
Comprehensive loss for the period - - - - - (1,278,733) (1,278,733) 

Balance, December 31, 2022 107,499,566  26,324,022   4,441,397    1,727  684,016  (33,397,147) (1,945,985) 
Warrants exercise 16,598,428 3,767,357 - - - - 3,767,357 
Fair value of warrants exercised - 513,262 (513,262) - - - - 
Share issue cost - (203,960) - - - - (203,960) 
Issuance of convertible debt - - 36 - 124 - 160 
Conversion of convertible debt 32,851,666 4,644,493 - - (505,426) - 4,139,067 
Share-based payments - - 1,344,268 - - - 1,344,268 
Currency translation adjustment - - - (10,478) - - (10,478) 
Comprehensive loss for the period - - - - - (3,297,503) (3,297,503) 

Balance, September 30, 2023 156,949,660 35,045,174 5,272,439 (8,751) 178,714 (36,694,650) 3,792,926 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 
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SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows 

 (Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 

  Nine months ended September 30, 

  2023 2022 
   $ $ 

    
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Loss for the period  (3,297,503) (3,539,233) 
Add: Items not affecting cash    

Depreciation 118,653 109,056 
Unrealized foreign exchange (10,478) 612 
Share based payments 1,344,268 784,465 
Accrued interest expense 240,068 666,998 
Deferred tax recovery (46) (1,145) 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:    
Receivables (88,664) 938,202 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 10,757 (20,159) 
Inventory (297,313) (207,969) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (717,830) 33,672 
Deferred revenue (6,023) 266,387 
Warranty provisions 7,985 24,576 

Cash used in operating activities   (2,696,126) (944,539) 

    
INVESTING ACTIVITY    

Purchase of property and equipment (10,351) (30,764) 
Cash used in investing activity   (10,351) (30,764) 

    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds on:   
exercise of stock options - 147,917 
exercise of warrants, net of costs 3,563,397 368,608 
exercise of debenture warrants 208,000 43,000 

Repayment of convertible debentures (23,827) (898,620) 
Payment of lease liabilities (106,050) (104,478) 

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,641,520 (443,574) 
Increase (decrease) in cash  935,043 (1,418,876) 
Cash, beginning of the period  1,069,813 3,150,705 
Cash, end of the period   2,004,856 1,731,829 

 
Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flow (Note 15) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 
SHARC International Systems Inc. (the “Company” or “SHARC Energy”) was incorporated under 
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on February 4, 2011.  The Company’s shares are 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the trading symbol “SHRC”, Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange (the “FSE”) under the trading symbol “IWIA” and the OTC under the symbol 
“INTWF”. The Company is engaged in providing Wastewater Energy Transfer (“WET”) expertise 
and products that service commercial, industrial, public utilities and residential development projects 
objectives of reducing their carbon footprint while saving on energy costs. The Company’s registered 
and records office is located at 1443 Spitfire Place, Port Coquitlam, British Columbia, Canada, V3C 
6L4.   
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) have been 
prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern.  The going concern 
basis of presentation assumes that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and continue its 
operations for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business. Realization values may be substantially different from 
the carrying values as shown, and these Financial Statements do not give effect to adjustments that 
would be necessary to the carrying values and classifications of assets and liabilities should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern. As at September 30, 2023, the Company has an 
accumulated deficit of $36,694,650 and positive working capital of $3,527,433. The Company will 
continue to pursue opportunities to raise additional capital through equity markets and/or debt to fund 
its operating activities. Management anticipates it can maintain operating activities for the subsequent 
12 months. These Financial Statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities and the reported expenses and statement of financial position that would be necessary if 
the going concern assumption were inappropriate, and these adjustments could be material. 
 
There are many external factors that can adversely affect general workforces, economies and financial 
markets globally. Examples include, but are not limited to, the COVID-19 global pandemic from March 
2020, and political conflict in other regions. It is not possible for the Company to predict the duration 
or magnitude of adverse results of such external factors and its effect on the Company’s business or 
ability to raise funds. 
  



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  
 
[a] Statement of compliance  
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 
(“IAS”) 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”. They do not include all of the information required for full 
annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited annual 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, which have been prepared with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). These Financial Statements were approved by 
the Company’s Board of Directors on November 28, 2023. 
 
[b] Basis of measurement and consolidation 
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value.  
 
These Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries: 
 

 
  

September 30, 
2023 

Ownership 

December 31, 
2022  

Ownership 
Company Location % % 
SHARC Energy Systems Inc. (“SES”) Canada 100 100 
SHARC Energy (US) Systems Inc. (“SHARC US”) (1)  United States 100 100 
(1)The subsidiary was created and incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 5, 2022. 
 
The Company includes assets, liabilities and operations of subsidiaries from the date of acquisition to 
the date of disposal. 
 
All significant intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses from intercompany 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
 
[c] Functional and presentation currency 
 
These Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of the Company and its subsidiary SES. The functional currency of its subsidiary, SHARC 
US is US dollars. The results of SHARC US have been converted and are reflected in Canadian dollars 
within these Financial Statements.  
 

  



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 
 
[d] Significant accounting estimates and judgments  
 
The preparation of these Financial Statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
Financial Statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period.  Actual outcomes 
could differ from these estimates.  These Financial Statements include estimates which, by their nature, 
are uncertain.  The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the Financial Statements and 
may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.  These estimates are based on historical experience, current and future 
economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The Company reviews its estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis.  
 
Critical Judgments 
 
The following are critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Financial Statements: 
 
i. Research costs are recognized as an expense when incurred but development costs may be 

capitalized as intangible assets if certain conditions are met as described in IAS 38, Intangible 
Assets.  Management has determined that development costs do not meet the conditions for 
capitalization under IAS 38 and all research and development costs have been expensed. 
 

ii. The Company recognizes the deferred tax benefit related to deferred income and resource tax assets 
to the extent recovery is probable. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires 
management to make significant estimates of future taxable profit. In addition, future changes in 
tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions from deferred income and 
resource tax assets. 
 
 
 

  



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 
 
[d] Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 
 
Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 
 
i. Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid 

based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of 
these provisions at the end of the reporting period.  However, it is possible that at some future date 
an additional liability could result from audits by taxation authorities.  Where the final outcome of 
these tax-related matters is different from the amounts that were originally recorded, such 
differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 
ii. Warranty provisions are recognized for the future obligations to provide services for the repairs 

and maintenance of products sold to its customers. The Company assesses its warranty provision 
based on experience. Actual costs incurred may differ from those amounts estimated. 
 

iii. The Company estimates the net realizable values of inventories, considering the most reliable 
evidence available at each reporting date. The future realization of these inventories may be 
affected by future technology or other market drive changes that may reduce future selling prices. 
 

iv. The Company has service agreements with regards to some of its product sales which requires 
management to make judgments regarding the timing and allocation of revenue. Specifically, 
installation is generally not assumed to have stand-alone value and is often recognized on the same 
basis as the remainder of the services fees. However, the Company defers the recognition of 
revenue associated with fees for services agreements or warranty costs that are built into the original 
sales price and recognizes the associated revenue evenly over the term of the service. 
 

v. The equity component of the convertible debenture is calculated using a discounted cash flow 
method which requires management to make an estimate on an appropriate discount rate. 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies and methods of 
computation consistent with those applied in the Company’s audited annual financial statement for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. 
 

  



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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4. RECEIVABLES 

 

As at, 
September 30,, 

2023 
$, 

As at,
December 31,,

2022
$,

GST recoverable  51,489 23,816 
Other receivables 504,238 19,184 
Interest receivable - 4,255 
Trade receivables 55,016 474,824 
Total 610,743 522,079 

 

 
 
5. INVENTORY 

 

As at, 
September 30,, 

2023 
$, 

As at,
December 31, 

,2022 
$,

Materials and supplies 86,300 86,300 
Work-in-progress 1,159,465 735,037 
Finished goods 149,497 149,497 
Total 1,395,262 970,834 

 
 

6. RESTRICTED CASH 
 

As at September 30, 2023 the restricted cash balance of $50,000 (year ended December 31, 2022 - 
$50,000) is comprised of a bank lien on funds held as collateral for the Company’s corporate credit 
card limits. 
 
 
 



SHARC International Systems Inc. 
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  

For the Nine months ended September 30, 2023 
(Unaudited - expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 

Equipment, 
Furniture 

& Fixtures 
Demo 
Units 

Computer 
Hardware 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Right-of-
use assets Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       
COST:              
       

Balance, December 31, 2021  122,902   337,547   79,606   32,722   548,680  1,121,457  

Additions  54,848   -   26,230   39,773   61,874   182,725  

Balance, December 31, 2022  177,750   337,547   105,836   72,495   610,554   1,304,182  

Additions 3,137   -  3,395   3,819   -  10,351  

Balance, September 30, 2023  180,887   337,547   109,231   76,314   610,554   1,314,533  

      
       
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION:            

      

Balance, December 31, 2021  45,829   337,547   47,071   21,764   279,699   731,910  

Depreciation expense  20,900   -   25,108   10,145   105,844   161,997  

Dispositions  -   -   -   -   1,099   1,099  

Balance, December 31, 2022  66,729   337,547   72,179   31,909   386,642   895,006  

Depreciation expense  16,820   -   13,884   8,117   79,832  118,653  

Balance, September 30, 2023  83,549   337,547   86,063   40,026   466,474  1,013,659  

       
       
NET BOOK VALUE:        

      

Balance, December 31, 2022  111,021   -   33,657   40,586   223,912   409,176  

Balance, September 30, 2023  97,338   -   23,168   36,288   144,080   300,874  
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8. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 
 
Transactions with related parties 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly. Key management 
personnel include officers and directors. 
 
The Company incurred the following charges with key management personnel: 
 

 
Three months ended 

September 30, 
Nine months ended 

September 30, 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 
  $ $ $ $ 

Consulting Fees [i] 39,000 39,000 117,000 117,000 

Wages and Benefits [ii] 143,635 52,465 262,644 307,370 

Share-based payments [iii] 149,824 42,651 392,614 227,183 

  332,459 134,116 772,258 651,553 
 
[i] The Company paid consulting fees to a company controlled by the Chief Financial Officer & 

Chief Operating Officer.  
 
[ii] The Company paid wages and benefits to the Chief Executive Officer, the President of 

SHARC US, and the former Chief Operating Officer. 
 
[iii] Share-based payments were recognized in connection with the vesting of options granted to 

directors and officers of the Company. 
 

9. DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue relates to on-going projects and service agreements at year end. Revenue is  
recognized on completion and sale of projects and over the length of term for the service agreements. 
As at September 30, 2023 the balance was $12,511 (December 31, 2022 - $18,534). 
 

 
10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 
 

[i] On March 8, 2019, May 9, 2019 and June 28, 2019, the Company issued three tranches of 
unsecured convertible debenture units with total principal amounts of $810,000, $1,330,000 and 
$550,000 respectively. The debentures matured on March 8, 2022, May 9, 2022 and June 28, 
2022, respectively, and bore interest at an annual rate of 8% due semi-annually. The debentures 
were convertible, in whole or in part, at the option of the holder at any time after the first 
anniversary of the date of issuance and prior to the maturity date into common shares of the 
Company at a conversion price of $0.32 per common share. 
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

Each debenture unit consisted of one $1,000 principal amount unsecured convertible debenture 
and 1,563 share purchase warrants, each exercisable into one common share of the Company at 
$0.40 per share three years from issuance. 

 
If at any time after the first year anniversary of the closing date the closing price of the common 
shares of the Company was $0.64 or greater for 20 consecutive trading days, the Company could 
have, at its option, convert the debenture and any accrued and unpaid interest thereon into common 
shares by disseminating a press release, in which case the debentures would have been converted 
into common shares on the second business day after dissemination of such press release. The 
warrants were not subject to acceleration. 
 
Total finders' fee of $161,400 in cash and 162 debenture warrants, with a nominal value, were 
incurred on the issuances. Each debenture warrant was exercisable into one debenture unit of the 
Company at $1,000 per unit three years from issuance under the same terms as the units in the 
placement. The Company incurred legal, regulatory and other share issuance costs of $238,117. 
 
The convertible debentures were compound financial instruments with the equity component 
being the residual value after accounting for the debt component. The Company valued the debt 
component of the debentures by calculating the present value of the principal and interest 
payments, discounted at a rate of 20%, being management’s best estimate of the rate that a non-
convertible debenture with similar terms would bear. The equity component consisted of the 
warrants and the equity conversion feature. The values attributed to each was based on the relative 
fair value approach. 
 
On initial recognition, the liability components were $2,022,861 ($1,722,363 net of transaction 
costs), the warrants were $333,569 ($193,996 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the 
residual equity components were $333,569 ($193,996 net of transaction costs and tax effect). 
 
Accretion charges, included in interest and financing expense on the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, attributable to the debentures for the three and nine months ended September 
30, 2023 was $nil and $nil (September 30, 2022: $nil and $126,677), of which $nil (September 30, 
2022: $43,400) related to accrued interest. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, $765,000 of principal amount was converted into 
2,390,625 common shares (Note 12). Upon conversion, the present value of the liability of 
$763,776 and the residual equity reserve value of $62,113 was transferred to share capital. 
Furthermore, $815,000 of principal value matured and repaid in full including interest. 

 
[ii] On December 20, 2019, the Company issued unsecured convertible debenture units with total 

principal amount of $1,030,000. The debenture matured on December 20, 2022, and bore interest 
at an annual rate of 8% due semi-annually. The debentures were convertible, in whole or in part, 
at the option of the holder at any time after the first anniversary of the date of issuance and prior 
to the maturity date into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.10 per 
common share. Each debenture unit consisted of one $1,000 principal amount unsecured 
convertible debenture. 
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 
If at any time after May 21, 2020 the closing price of the common shares of the Company was 
$0.40 or greater for 20 consecutive trading days, the Company could have at its option, convert 
the debenture and any accrued and unpaid interest thereon into common shares by disseminating 
a press release, in which case the debentures would have been converted into common shares on 
the second business day after dissemination of such press release.  
 
Total finders' fee of $30,000 in cash and 30 debenture warrants, with a nominal value, were 
incurred on the issuance. Each debenture warrant was exercisable into one debenture unit of the 
Company at $1,000 per unit three years from issuance under the same terms as this units in this 
placement. The Company incurred legal, regulatory and other share issuance costs of $761. 
 
The convertible debentures were compound financial instruments with the equity component 
being the residual value after accounting for the debt component. The Company valued the debt 
component of the debenture by calculating the present value of the principal and interest 
payments, discounted at a rate of 20%, being management’s best estimate of the rate that a non-
convertible debenture with similar terms would bear. The equity component consisted of the 
warrants and the equity conversion feature. The values attributed to each was based on the relative 
fair value approach. 
 
On initial recognition, the liability component was $774,544 ($751,412 net of transaction costs), 
and the residual equity components were $255,456 ($178,853 net of transaction costs and tax 
effect). 
 
During year ended December 31, 2022, 15 debenture warrants issued under this financing were 
exercised for proceeds of $15,000. On initial recognition, the liability component was $14,992 
and the residual equity components were $8 (net of transaction costs and tax effect). The $15,000 
principal was immediately converted into 150,000 common shares (Note 12). Upon conversion, 
the liability and equity components were transferred to share capital. 

 
[iii] On February 13 and February 24, 2020, the Company issued unsecured convertible debenture 

units with total principal amounts of $1,764,000 and $276,000 respectively. The debentures 
matured on February 13 and February 24, 2023, respectively, and bore interest at an annual rate 
of 2% due semi-annually. The debentures were convertible, in whole or in part, at the option of 
the holder at any time after the first anniversary of the date of issuance and prior to the maturity 
date into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.10 per common share. 
 
Each debenture unit consisted of one $1,000 principal amount unsecured convertible debenture 
and 5,000 share purchase warrants, each exercisable into one common share of the Company at 
$0.20 per share three years from issuance. 

 
Total finders' fees of $102,000 in cash and 203 debenture warrants were incurred on the issuances. 
Each debenture warrant is exercisable into one debenture unit of the Company at $1,000 per unit 
three years from issuance under the same terms as the units in the placement. The Company 
incurred legal, regulatory and other share issuance costs of $12,763. 
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 
The convertible debenture is a compound financial instrument with the equity component being 
the residual value after accounting for the debt component. The Company valued the debt 
component of the debenture by calculating the present value of the principal and interest payments, 
discounted at a rate of 20%, being management’s best estimate of the rate that a non-convertible 
debenture with similar terms would bear. The equity component consists of the warrants and the 
equity conversion feature. The values attributed to each was based on the relative fair value 
approach. 
 
On initial recognition, the liability component was $1,268,870 ($1,197,488 net of transaction 
costs), the warrants were $385,564 ($259,772 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the 
residual equity components were $385,564 ($259,772 net of transaction costs and tax effect). 
 
Accretion charges, included in interest and financing expense on the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, attributable to the debenture for the three and nine months ended September 
30, 2023 was $nil and $22,273 (September 30, 2022: $70,531 and $204,798), of which $nil 
(September 30, 2022: $23,076) relates to accrued interest. 
 
During the year ended December 30, 2022, $85,000 of principal amount was converted into 
850,000 common shares. Upon conversion, the present value of the liability of $106,166 and the 
residual equity reserve value of $10,813 was transferred to share capital (Note 12).  
 
During the year ended December 30, 2022, 33 debenture warrants issued under this financing 
were exercised for proceeds of $33,000. On initial recognition, the liability component was 
$29,578, the warrants were $1,313 ($959 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the residual 
equity components were $2,109 ($1,539 net of transaction costs and tax effect). The $33,000 
principal was immediately converted into 330,000 common shares (Note 12). Upon conversion, 
the liability and equity components were transferred to share capital. 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, $1,470,500 of principal amount was converted 
into 14,705,000 common shares. Upon conversion, the present value of the liability of $1,458,731 
and the residual equity reserve value of $187,276 was transferred to share capital (Note 12).  
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, 79 debenture warrants issued under this 
financing were exercised for proceeds of $79,000. On initial recognition, the liability component 
was $78,827, the warrants were $49 ($49 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the residual 
equity components were $124 ($124 net of transaction costs and tax effect). The $79,000 principal 
was immediately converted into 790,000 common shares (Note 12). Upon conversion, the liability 
and equity components were transferred to share capital. 
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

[iv] On May 29, 2020 and June 12, 2020, the Company issued unsecured convertible debenture units 
with total principal amounts of $2,000,000 and $700,000 respectively. The debentures mature on 
May 29 and June 12, 2023, respectively, and bear interest at an annual rate of 2% due semi-
annually. The debentures are convertible, in whole or in part, at the option of the holder at any 
time after the first anniversary of the date of issuance and prior to the maturity date into common 
shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.15 per common share. 

 
Each debenture unit consisted of one $1,000 principal amount unsecured convertible debenture 
and 3,333 share purchase warrants, each exercisable into one common share of the Company at 
$0.25 per share three years from issuance. 
 
Total finders’ fee of $134,475 in cash and 269 debenture warrants, with a nominal value, were 
incurred on the issuances. Each debenture warrant is exercisable into one debenture unit of the 
Company at $1,000 per unit three years from issuance under the same terms as the units in the 
placement.  
 
The convertible debenture is a compound financial instrument with the equity component being 
the residual value after accounting for the debt component. The Company valued the debt 
component of the debenture by calculating the present value of the principal and interest 
payments, discounted at a rate of 20%, being management’s best estimate of the rate that a non-
convertible debenture with similar terms would bear. The equity component consists of the 
warrants and the equity conversion feature. The values attributed to each was based on the relative 
fair value approach. 
 
On initial recognition, the liability component was $1,679,650 ($1,595,994 net of transaction 
costs), the warrants were $510,175 ($347,018 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the 
residual equity components were $510,175 ($347,018 net of transaction costs and tax effect). 
 
Accretion charges, included in interest and financing expense on the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, attributable to the debenture for the three and nine months ended September 
30, 2023 was $nil and $198,957 (September 30, 2022: $107,678 and $309,879) of which $nil 
(September 30, 2022: $37,118) relates to accrued interest. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, 10 debenture warrants issued under this financing 
were exercised for proceeds of $10,000. On initial recognition, the liability component was 
$9,180, the warrants were $310 ($228 net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the residual 
equity components were $510 ($373 net of transaction costs and tax effect). The $10,000 principal 
was immediately converted into 66,667 common shares (Note 12). Upon conversion, the liability 
and equity components were transferred to share capital. 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, $2,474,500 of principal amount was 
converted into 16,496,666 common shares. Upon conversion, the present value of the liability of 
$2,601,539 and the residual equity reserve value of $318,026 was transferred to share capital 
(Note 12).  
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, 129 debenture warrants issued under this 
financing were exercised for proceeds of $129,000. On initial recognition, the liability component 
was $129,000, the warrants were $nil ($nil net of transaction costs and tax effect) and the residual 
equity components were $nil ($nil net of transaction costs and tax effect). The $129,000 principal 
was immediately converted into 860,000 common shares (Note 12).  
 

Convertible debenture transactions and the amount of convertible debentures outstanding are 
summarized below: 
 

 Note 10 [i] Note 10 [ii] Note 10 [iii] Note 10 [iv] TOTAL 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance, December 31, 2021   1,495,498      -    1,270,524    1,920,632    4,686,654  

Principal      -    15,000    33,000    10,000    58,000  

Equity component      -          (8)   (2,109)     (510)   (2,627) 

Warrant component      -     -    (1,313)     (310)   (1,623) 

Accretion expense 126,678     -  276,224  423,082  825,984  

Interest payment (43,400)     -  (30,511) (49,491)  (123,402) 

Principal  (815,000)    -          -          -   (815,000) 

Conversion of debt   (763,776)      (14,992)   (106,166)   (9,181)   (894,115) 

Balance, December 31, 2022   -     -    1,439,649    2,294,222    3,733,871  

Principal - - 79,000 129,000 208,000 

Equity component - - (124) - (124) 

Warrant component - - (49) - (49) 

Accretion expense -      -  22,273 198,957 221,230 

Interest payment -     -  (3,191) (20,640) (23,831) 

Conversion of debt -      -  (1,537,558) (2,601,539) (4,139,097) 

Balance, September 30, 2023    -     -  - - - 
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, of the total convertible debentures payable, the current 
amount is $nil (year ended December 31, 2022 - $3,733,871). 
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10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Debenture warrant transactions and the number of debenture warrants outstanding are summarized 
below: 

 
Number 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 
Balance, December 31, 2021 380 1,000 

Exercised (58) 1,000 
Expired (113) 1,000 

Balance, December 31, 2022 209 1,000 
Exercised  (208) 1,000 
Expired (1) 1,000 

Balance, September 30, 2023 - 1,000 
   
 

11. LEASE LIABILITIES   
 
The Company leases vehicles and office space in Canada. The lease liabilities are discounted using an 
incremental borrowing rate of 12%. 

  As at September 30, As at December 31, 

   
2023 

$ 
2022 

$ 
Balance, beginning of year 259,211 304,651 

Additions - 61,874 
Derecognition - (1,101) 
Interest 18,838 33,614 
Lease payments (106,050) (139,827) 

Balance, end of year 171,999 259,211 
Less: non-current portion (42,876) (141,149) 

Balance, current portion 129,123 118,062 
 
     Undiscounted lease payments        $ 

Not later than one year 141,400 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 52,682 
September 30, 2023 194,082 

 
The Company has elected not to apply the lease standard to short term leases with an initial term of 12 
months or less but rather to recognise the lease expense on a straight-line basis. For the nine months 
ended September 30, 2023, $36,000 of variable lease payments (nine months ended September 30, 
2022 - $36,000) were included in rent expense on the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the company entered into a 6-year lease for truck to be used 
in business operations. The value of right of use for the truck, using a 12% discount rate, is $61,874. 
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12. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

[a] Authorized Share Capital 
 
The authorized share capital consisted of unlimited number of common shares. The common shares do 
not have a par value. All issued shares are fully paid. 
 
[b] Common shares  
 
The Company had the following share capital transactions during the year ended December 31, 2022: 
 
[i]  issued 716,667 common shares pursuant to the exercise of stock options for aggregate gross 

proceeds of $147,917. The fair value of the stock options of $118,347 was transferred from 
reserves to share capital. 

 
[ii]  issued 1,940,714 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for aggregate gross 

proceeds of $471,178. The fair value of the warrants of $71,835 was transferred from reserves 
to share capital. 

 

[iii]  issued 3,240,625 common shares pursuant to the conversion of $850,000 of convertible debt. 
The fair value of the convertible debt liability at the time of conversion is $869,941 and the 
convertible debt equity portion is $72,926 for a total value of $942,867 transferred to share 
capital (Note 10[i] and [iii]). 

 
[iv] 58 debenture warrants were exercised for total proceeds of $58,000. Upon issuance, the 

debentures were immediately converted into 546,667 common shares. The fair value of the 
convertible debt liability at the time of conversion is $53,750 and the convertible debt equity 
portion is $2,627 for a total value of $56,377 transferred to share capital (Note 10 [ii], [iii] and 
[iv]).  

 
[v] issued 349,701 common shares pursuant to the exercise of restricted share units. The fair value 

of the restricted share units of $117,150 was transferred from reserve to share capital. 
  

The Company had the following share capital transactions during the nine months ended September 
30, 2023: 
 
[vi] issued 16,598,428 common shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for aggregate gross 

proceeds of $3,767,357. The fair value adjustment of the warrants of $513,262 was transferred 
from reserves to share capital. Finder’s fees of $203,960 were incurred on the exercise of the 
warrants. 

 
[vii] 208 debenture warrants were exercised for total proceeds of $208,000. Upon issuance, the 

debentures were immediately converted into 1,650,000 common shares. The fair value of the 
convertible debt liability at the time of conversion is $207,827 and the convertible debt equity 
portion is $91 for a total value of $207,736 transferred to share capital.   
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SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 
[viii]  issued 31,201,666 common shares pursuant to the conversion of $3,945,000 of convertible 

debt. The fair value of the convertible debt liability at the time of conversion is $3,931,422 and 
the convertible debt equity portion is $505,335 for a total value of $4,436,663 transferred to 
share capital (Note 10[iii] and [iv]). 

 
[c] Common share purchase warrants 
 
Common share purchase warrant transactions and the number of common share purchase warrants 
outstanding are summarized below: 
 
 

    Number Weighted 
        of Shares Average $ 

Balance, December 31, 2021     25,964,547       0.29  

 Issued    5,198,330      0.39  

 Exercised     (1,940,715)   (0.24) 
  Expired      (7,989,728)    (0.42) 

Balance, December 31, 2022    21,232,434    0.27  
Issued 4,501,885 0.26 

 Exercised   (16,598,428) (0.23) 
  Expired     (362,306) 0.33 

Balance, September 30, 2023  8,773,585 0.34 
 
 

Date of Expiry   
Exercise 
price $ 

Warrants 
outstanding 

August 16, 2024  0.400  5,000,000  
March 1, 2028  0.265 3,773,585 

Balance, September 30, 2023     8,773,585  
 

During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded share-
based payment expense of $nil and $735,008 directly related to the fair value of warrants issued (three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2022 were $495,549 and $495,549) 

 
[d] Stock options 

 
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded share-based 
payment expense of $243,240 and $609,260 (three and Nine months ended September 30, 2022 - 
$112,446 and $401,362) directly related to the employee options outstanding.  
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12. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 
Stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarized below: 

 

 
Number 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 
Balance, December 31, 2021 5,889,875 0.16 

Issued 1,104,522 0.34 
Exercised (716,667) (0.21) 
Expired (423,756) (0.29) 

Balance, December 31, 2022 5,853,974 0.19 
Issued 2,066,046                0.27 
Exercised          —          — 
Expired (39,477) 0.34 

Balance, September 30, 2023 7,880,543 0.20 
 
 

Date of Expiry 

 
Exercise Price 

$ 

Number of 
Options 

Outstanding 

Number of 
Options 

Exercisable 
October 29, 2024 0.090 333,000   333,000 
January 19, 2025 0.075 2,485,000 2,485,000 
February 26, 2025 0.125 700,000 700,000 
March 16, 2025 0.105 200,000 200,000 
December 20, 2025 0.345 1,186,875 1,186,875 
May 30, 2027 0.335 909,622 368,174 
April 27, 2028 0.270 1,930,000 — 
June 29, 2028 0.280 136,046 — 
Balance, September 30, 2023 0.200 7,880,543 5,273,049 
 
As of September 30, 2023, the weighted average remaining life for outstanding options was 2.55 
years (September 30, 2022 – 2.88 years). 

 
[e] Restricted Share Units (“RSU”) 

 
On August 7, 2020, the Company adopted an RSU plan for directors, officers, employees and 
consultants of the Company. Under the terms of the plan, each vested RSU awarded entitles the RSU 
holder to receive, subject to adjustment as provided for in the RSU Plan, either one common share in 
the Company or, at the Company’s option, an equivalent cash payment. The maximum number of RSUs 
granted should not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company aggregated with all other security-
based compensation arrangements. 
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12. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
 
During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company recorded share-
based payments expense of $190,689 and $261,473, respectively, related to the RSUs (three and nine 
months ended September 30, 2022 - $140,745) 
 
RSU transactions and the number of RSUs outstanding are summarized below: 
 

 
Number 

Weighted Average 
Fair Value 

$ 
Balance, December 31, 2021 - - 

Issued 2,040,108 0.335 
Exercised (349,701) (0.335) 
Expired - - 

Balance, December 31, 2022 1,690,407 0.335 
Issued 3,119,402               0.270 
Exercised          —          — 
Expired (55,075) 0.270 

Balance, September 30, 2023 4,754,734 0.290 
 
 

Date Issued 

 
 

Expiry 

Share Price 
on issuance 

$ 
Shares 

Outstanding 
Shares 

Exercisable 
May 30, 2022 December 31, 2024 0.335 1,635,332 114,627 
April 27, 2023 December 31, 2025 0.270 2,734,000 - 
June 29, 2023 December 31, 2025 0.280 385,402 181,365 
Balance September 30, 2023 0.290 4,754,734  181,365 
 

13. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern in order to support the development of its business and maintain the necessary 
corporate and administration functions to facilitate these activities. The capital of the Company consists 
of items included in shareholders’ equity (deficiency).  
 
The Company manages and adjusts its capital structure when changes to the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets or changes in economic conditions occur. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Company may attempt to raise new funds. 
 
There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period. The 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Fair value  
IFRS 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value that reflects 
the significance of inputs used in making fair value measurements as follows: 
 
Level 1   quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2   inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liabilities, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., from derived prices); and 
Level 3   inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data. 
 
The fair value of cash and restricted cash is based on Level 1 inputs. The fair value of the Company’s 
cash, restricted cash, receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their 
carrying values due to the short-term to maturity. The fair value of long-term liabilities is initially 
recorded at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost using rates comparable to market 
interest rates. 

 
[a] Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge an obligation. The Company’s cash and receivables are exposed to credit 
risk. The Company reduces its credit risk on cash by placing these instruments with institutions of high 
creditworthiness. Receivables are primarily from sales.  The Company believes these parties to be of 
sound creditworthiness, and to date, all receivables have been settled in accordance with agreed upon 
terms and conditions. As at September 30, 2023 the Company is exposed to credit risk arising from 
receivables. 

 
[b] Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances 
to enable settlement of transactions on the due date. The Company addresses its liquidity through debt 
financing. While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no 
assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. As at September 30, 2023, the Company is not 
exposed to significant liquidity risk. 

 
[c] Market risk  
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. As at September 30, 2023 the Company is not exposed to 
any significant interest rate risk.   
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15. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS 
 
The following is the non-cash operating, investing and financing activities: 
 

 Nine months ended September 30, 
 2023 2022 
 $ $ 
Conversion of convertible debt into common shares 4,139,101 901,751 
Conversion of convertible debt into shares – equity portion 505,393 — 
Fair value of stock options and warrants exercised  513,261 301,361 
Warrant exercise proceeds receivable — — 
Issuance of convertible debt – equity component 124 2,619 
Issuance of convertible debt – warrant component 49 1,623 
Reversal of share-based payments — 5,189 
Right of use asset recognized — 61,873 
Inventory in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 127,115 — 

 
16. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 
The Company has a single operating segment, the sales and marketing of WET Equipment.  As at 
September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, all of the Company’s main operations, assets and 
employees are in Canada. 
 
 

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Subsequent to September 30, 2023: 
 
[a]  The Company issued 100,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.245 each, maturing 5 

years from the date of issuance,  subject to vesting terms. 
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The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the 
operations of SHARC International Systems Inc. (the “Company” or "SHARC Energy") constitutes 
management’s review of the factors that affected the Company’s financial and operating performance for 
the nine months ended September 30, 2023. This MD&A has been prepared in compliance with the 
requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. The discussion should 
be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 
31, 2022 and 2021, together with the notes thereto. Results are reported in Canadian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (which consist only of normal recurring 
adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The result for the three 
months ended September 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for 
any future period. Information contained herein is presented as at November 28, 2023 unless otherwise 
indicated.  

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the nine months ended September 
30, 2023, have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The unaudited 
condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting.  

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, 
considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, 
or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of SHARC 
Energy’s common shares; or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider 
it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter the total mix of information 
available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, evaluates materiality with 
reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity. 

Further information about the Company and its operations is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

 

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in 
applicable securities laws (collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These 
statements relate to future events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than 
statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking 
statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “is expected”, “budget”, 
“scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or 
“believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, events 
or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Forward-looking 
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results 
to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The forward-looking 
statements in this MD&A speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such 
statement.  
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Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may 
cause SHARC Energy’s actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any of 
its future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All 
forward-looking statements herein are qualified by this cautionary statement. Accordingly, readers should 
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update 
publicly or otherwise revise any forward-looking statements, whether because of new information or future 
events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-
looking statements, no inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those 
or other forward-looking statements, unless required by law. 

Corporate Information 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on February 4th, 
2011. SHARC Energy is publicly traded in Canada (CSE:SHRC), the United States (OTCQB:INTWF) and 
Germany (Frankfurt:IWIA). The head office of the Company is located at 1443 Spitfire Place, Port 
Coquitlam, British Columbia, V3C 6L4 and the registered and records office of the Company is located at 
1443 Spitfire Place, Port Coquitlam, British Columbia, Canada, V3C 6L4. 

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, SHARC Energy Systems Inc. ("SES") was incorporated under 
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on May 30th, 2011. On October 27th, 2015, the Company 
completed the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of SES pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated 
September 4th, 2015. The Acquisition constituted a reverse takeover ("RTO").  

During 2022, the Company created a wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, SHARC Energy (US) Systems Inc. 
(“SHARC US”). This subsidiary was incorporated in the State of Delaware on January 5, 2022 

The Company either wholly owns the following subsidiaries located in Canada and the United States: 

 
  

September 30, 
2023 

Ownership 

December 31, 
2022  

Ownership 

Company Location % % 

SES Canada 100 100 

SHARC US  United States 100 100 
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Highlights 

i. Sales Order Backlog and Sales Pipeline. As at November 28, 2023, the Company reported a 
Sales Order Backlog of $0.8M and a Sales Pipeline of $17.7M. This is a decrease of 38% on sales 
order backlog and increase of 6% on sale pipeline, from the previous disclosure on August 29, 
2023 of $1.32M and $16.7M, respectively. Please refer to Alternative Performance Measurements 
below for more information on Sales Order Backlog and Sales Order Pipeline. 
 

ii. Appointment of Michael Albertson as SHARC US President. The Company announced the 
strategic addition of 40+ year industry veteran Michael Albertson to its executive team as the 
President of SHARC US. Albertson, with his extensive experience and proven track record as a 
renewable thermal energy expert with a focus on Thermal Energy Networks (“TENs”) and district 
energy networks, is set to play a pivotal role in driving the Company's growth and revenue 
generation.  
 

iii. Appointment of Peter Busby to the Board of Directors. The Company announced the addition 
of renowned sustainable architect, Peter Busby to the Board of Directors. Mr. Busby is a principal 
at Perkins & Will, a global design practice founded in 1935, with over 28 offices and over 2,500 
employees. The Company will leverage Mr. Busby’s expertise to better engage with architects 
worldwide and grow awareness of SHARC Energy within the industry and drive lead generation for 
its products. 
 

iv. Appointment of Dermot Sweeny to the Board of Directors. Mr. Sweeny was appointed to the 
Board of Directors on October 17, 2023. Mr. Sweeny’s firm, Sweeny & Co, has achieved numerous 
awards from reputable institutions, like the Canadian Green Building Council and the Urban Land 
Institute, for their sustainable building designs. This strategic appointment highlights SHARC 
Energy’s ongoing commitment to creating significant value for our shareholders by bringing 
together industry experts who passionately embrace our vision of advancing sustainability. 
 

v. False Creek Neighbourhood Energy Utility (“NEU”) Expansion.  During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company commenced work on the supply and maintenance agreement 
with the City of Vancouver for the provision and maintenance of five SHARC systems for the False 
Creek NEU Expansion. This project is expected to increase the capacity of the current 3.2MW 
Wastewater Energy Transfer (“WET”) system to 9.8MW, making it the largest operating WET 
project in North America upon completion, with an additional carbon emission reduction of an 
estimated 4,400 tonnes per year. The major components of the SHARC WET systems have been 
delivered to site. The final milestones for the system, including commissioning and field testing of 
the SHARC WET systems, are anticipated to complete before the end of 2024. 



 

SHARC INTERNATIONAL SYSTEMS INC.  NOVEMBER 28, 2023 4 

 
  

 

vi. SHARC sales gain traction in New York State. Further to the Governor of New York Kathy 
Hochul’s signing of the Utility Thermal Network and Jobs Act in July 2022 and the All Electric 
Building Act in February 2023, as disclosed in the Industry Developments section, SHARC WET 
systems are being showcased in two key projects in New York: 
 

o Purchase Order Received for Phase 1 of transformative $1.2B development to create 
2,400 affordable homes, a medical clinic, and retail in Brooklyn, New York. The 
Company has completed the final submittal process with its New York State representative 
HIGHMARK and has received a purchase order for a SHARC 660 WET system to be 
included in the first phase of a transformative $1.2 billion redevelopment in Brooklyn’s East 
New York neighborhood led by Apex Building Company, L+M Development Partners, 
RiseBoro Community Partnership, and Services for the Underserved. It is anticipated that 
the system will ship in Q1 2024. 
 

o SHARC Energy featured in Empire building challenge project. The Company has 
received a purchase order for a SHARC 660 WET system for the Whitney Young Manor 
recapitalization project in Yonkers, New York. The Whitney Young Manor will undergo a 
$22 million renovation, with nearly $12 million allocated to the project’s decarbonization 
effort, inclusive of all energy efficiency measures. The retrofit project will showcase how to 
leverage a recapitalization opportunity to comprehensively retrofit energy systems and 
modernize an affordable housing complex. It is anticipated that the system will ship in Q1 
2024. 

vii. Partnership with Subterra Renewables. The Company and Subterra Capital Partners Inc. 
(“Subterra Renewables”), a leading full-service geothermal drilling provider with a proprietary 
Energy-as-a-Service (“EaaS”) model known as Aura™, announced on April 27, 2023, a strategic 
partnership to revolutionize the renewable thermal energy transfer landscape across North 
America. By combining SHARC Energy's innovative WET technology with Subterra's geothermal 
exchange systems (“Systems”), the partnership aims to bring unparalleled solutions to the market, 
capturing a greater share for both companies. 

vii. Gross Proceeds of $3.98 Million (M) raised through security exercises. Since the beginning of 
2023 and up to the date of the MD&A, the Company raised $3.77M through the exercise of warrants 
and $0.21M through the exercise of debenture warrants. 
 

viii. Conversion of Convertible Debt Face Value of $3.95M. Since the beginning of 2023 to the date 
of the MD&A, the Company has converted $3.95M of convertible debt. As of June 30, 2023, the 
Company no longer carries convertible debt on its balance sheet. 
 

ix. Quarter over Quarter Results. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, the Company 
reported revenues of $0.55M, a loss of $0.91M and an Adjusted EBITDA loss of $0.63M. Revenue 
increased 567% over revenue comparative in 2022 of $0.08M, the loss decreased 38% over 
comparative in 2022 of $1.46M. Adjusted EBITDA loss improved by 6% over the 2022 comparative 
of an Adjusted EBITDA earnings of $0.68M. 
 

x. Year to date (“YTD”) over YTD Results. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the 
Company realized revenues of $1.73M, a loss of $3.31M and an Adjusted EBITDA loss of $1.59M. 
Revenue increased 53% over revenue comparative in 2022 of $1.13M, the loss for the period 
improved by 7% over comparative in 2022 of $3.54M and Adjusted EBITDA loss improved 22% 
over 2022 comparative of $1.95M. 
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Core Business 

SHARC Energy is changing the way we think about wastewater. One of the biggest challenges facing 
climate action is how the world will reduce carbon pollution associated with heating and hot water production 
in an economic and efficient way. SHARC Energy’s systems can help with that. The Company provides 
users of its solutions the opportunity to use wastewater for the purposes of creating low carbon and energy 
efficient heating and cooling. In using wastewater for thermal energy transfer, SHARC Energy’s systems 
provides the following opportunities: 

 Significantly reducing the carbon emissions from current hot water production or space heating 
process. 

 Operational and upfront capital cost savings through decreased utility bills, carbon tax, 
maintenance costs paid and upfront capital costs associated with alternative solutions. 

 Freshwater savings in cooling towers and improved efficiency of cooling processes 

SHARC Energy is considered a pioneer in wastewater energy transfer, an industry very much in its infancy. 
To the Company’s knowledge, SHARC Energy is the only wastewater energy transfer company with 
solutions that can address the thermal energy transfer needs of commercial, industrial, and multi-family 
residential buildings, as well as district energy systems. The solutions are scalable in size depending on 
access to wastewater flow and output requirements. The Company’s business has been built through 
advocating and promoting the industry for over 10 years, patented and proprietary technology and the 
delivery and installation of over 30 installations in 4 countries including the current largest wastewater 
district energy system in North America. 

Overview of the Wastewater Energy Transfer Business 

SHARC Energy supplies and services WET systems that provide the opportunity for recovering thermal 
energy from wastewater or rejecting thermal energy into wastewater for the purpose of creating low carbon 
and electrically efficient heating and cooling systems. These systems can be used by industrial, 
commercial, or multi-family residential buildings to offset and significantly reduce the energy requirements 
and carbon emissions associated with heating and cooling. 

SHARC WET systems, which are patented in Canada and worldwide patent pending for 30 months, can 
filter high volumes of wastewater flow for the purposes of extracting or rejecting thermal energy from or into 
wastewater. These systems are customer specific and typically paired with a heating or cooling process 
enabler such as a heat pump, air handler, chiller, etc. that are sold separately. A single SHARC system 
sale can vary depending on the size and scope of the project, with larger systems for larger capacities of 
wastewater and output achieved by supplying additional systems which in parallel drive multiples in sales 
value accordingly. The mix of models, scope and geography of each project impacts the overall sales 
revenue and margin. 

Examples of SHARC WET system projects are, but not limited too, WET district energy, micro-grids, large 
commercial and mix-use building developments and industrial applications like commercial laundry, food 
processing, pulp and paper and textiles manufacturing.   

These projects typically require detailed design support from third-party engineering firms and are 
developed and installed by mechanical contractors. SHARC systems are typically involved in a request for 
proposal (“RFP”) process and can be the specified system in the RFP process. SHARC Energy’s ability to 
supply equipment is subject to the progress of the bid, specification, design and build phases and therefore, 
these projects tend to have a longer sales cycle of 24 months or longer. 
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A PIRANHA WET system, which is a self-contained WET heat pump, can offset electric or natural gas 
boilers used in hot water production up to 100% while providing some air conditioning as a by-product of 
hot water production. These systems come in three sizes and two models and are sized accordingly based 
on the hot water demand for the implementation. A PIRANHA system requires a wastewater storage tank 
and solids pump that flows wastewater systematically through the PIRANHA to produce hot water. These 
systems are applicable for new build or retrofit implementations. A single PIRANHA system ranges in price 
depending on the size and model, with larger hot water demand achieved by supplying additional PIRANHA 
systems which in parallel drive multiples in sales value accordingly. The implementation and related costs 
of the PIRANHA system is site specific and subject to considerations such as available access to exiting 
wastewater pipes, space for installation and access or proximity to the mechanical or boiler room. 

Examples of PIRANHA WET system projects are, but not limited too, an apartment building, hospitals, 
hotel, commercial laundry, breweries, distilleries, recreation facilities such as ice rinks, gyms and pools, 
senior care facilities and some industrial applications.  

The Company currently sells its systems through a mix of direct and indirect sales channels. Direct sales 
team members are employed or contracted by SHARC Energy and help generate leads and manage the 
indirect sales network. The indirect sales network consists of representatives and independent sales 
representatives (“ISR”) that operate on a resale or commission only basis. This provides SHARC Energy 
with a lower upfront cost model and provides extended market coverage across North America and some 
foreign regions while SHARC Energy continues to build awareness of the opportunity of wastewater.  

SHARC Energy maintains a pipeline of prospective projects that it updates regularly to ensure that it is 
reflective of the sales opportunities that can convert into orders within approximately a rolling 24-month 
time horizon (“Sales Pipeline”). Not all these potential projects will proceed or proceed within the expected 
timeframe and not all the projects that do proceed will be awarded to SHARC Energy. Additions and 
reductions are discussed in greater detail below in Alternative Performance Measures.  

The market for SHARC Energy’s products is expected to grow as an increasing number of organizations 
and individuals seek out solutions to meet their sustainability goals and governments around the world 
enact and strengthen environmental policies designed to combat climate change by promoting the adoption 
of low carbon and electrically efficient heating and cooling solutions. 

Overview For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and Subsequent Events 

Financial Developments 

i. Exercise of Warrants for Gross Proceeds of $3.77M 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company issued 16,598,428 common 
shares pursuant to the exercise of warrants for aggregate gross proceeds of $3,767,357 and 
incurred share issue costs of $203,960. 
 

ii. Conversion of Convertible Debt Face Value of $3.95M and Exercise of Debenture Warrants 
for Gross Proceeds of $0.21M 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company issued 31,201,666 common 
shares pursuant to the conversion of $3,945,000 of convertible debt. This represents full 
extinguishment of 100% of the 2% February 13 & 24, May 29 and June 12, 2023 maturing 
convertible debt. 
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Furthermore, 208 debenture warrants were exercised for total proceeds of $208,000. Upon 
issuance, the debentures were immediately converted into 1,650,000 common shares. 
 
Operational Developments 

 
i. Sales Order Backlog and Sales Pipeline Disclosure.  

 
As at November 28, 2023, the Company reported a Sales Order Backlog of $0.82M and a Sales 
Pipeline of $16.0M. Please refer to Alternative Performance Measurements below for more 
information on Sales Order Backlog and Sales Order Pipeline. 
 

ii. Appointment of Michael Albertson as SHARC US President 
 
The Company announced the strategic addition of industry veteran Michael Albertson to its 
executive team as the President of SHARC US. Albertson, with his extensive experience and 
proven track record as a renewable thermal energy expert with a focus on Thermal Energy 
Networks (“TENs”) and district energy networks, is set to play a pivotal role in driving the 
Company's growth and revenue generation.  
 
Albertson's appointment comes at a critical time as SHARC Energy continues to expand its reach 
and enhance its services. His expertise in sales and marketing, product planning, tech service, 
customer service, training, OEM/branding management, market/business development, and utility 
engagement will be instrumental in propelling SHARC Energy to new heights.  
 
Albertson's career spans over four decades, during which he has demonstrated a unique ability to 
drive growth and innovation. His most recent role as Senior Vice President for Sales & Marketing 
at WaterFurnace International, Inc. saw him overseeing a wide range of responsibilities, 
contributing significantly to the company's success. His experience in selling, designing, and 
installing thousands of geothermal systems both nationally and globally is a testament to his 
capabilities and dedication to the industry.  
 
Prior to his tenure at WaterFurnace, Albertson served as Director of Commercial Geothermal Sales 
and National Accounts Manager for a major manufacturer of water source and geothermal heat 
pumps. He also successfully owned and operated a commercial HVAC, controls, and mechanical 
equipment/contracting company for over a decade.  
 
Beyond his professional accomplishments, Albertson has been an active participant in various 
industry organizations. His past roles include serving as Chairman of the Board of the International 
Ground Source Heat Pump Association (IGSHPA) and as a board member of the GeoExchange 
Organization (GEO). His involvement in these organizations underscores his commitment to the 
industry and his drive to stay at the forefront of technological advancements.  
 
Finally, Mr. Albertson has been instrumental in government lobbying activities related to the stability 
of the Federal Tax incentives for geothermal HVAC, including the latest 10-year extension in the 
Inflation Reduction Act.  
 

iii. Addition of Peter Busby to the Board of Directors 
 
Peter Busby was voted to the Board of Directors by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 
held on September 12, 2023. 
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Mr. Busby is a principal at Perkins & Will, a global design practice founded in 1935, with over 28 
offices and over 2,500 employees. Mr. Busby has been an Architect based in Vancouver for 40 
years. He has built approximately 150 buildings across Canada including 3 at Simon Fraser 
University and 4 at the University of British Columbia, and many other residential and mixed-use 
commercial projects across Vancouver. 
 
He is best known for his development of sustainable design in Canada, founding the Canada Green 
Building Council in 2002 that brought LEED to Canada. He has won many design awards, including 
6 Governor Generals Awards, 11 Lieutenant Governor Awards, and the RAIC Gold medal. He was 
awarded the Order of Canada in 2015 for creating and pushing the green building movement in 
Canada. He also has many built buildings outside Canada, including South Korea, Italy, the USA, 
Saudi Arabia, and Hong Kong. Peter is still active in the industry, currently designing projects in 
Ottawa, Toronto, Vancouver, Seattle, and Texas. 
 
Architects play a pivotal role in the conceptualization, design, and supervision of building projects 
which makes them instrumental in integrating WET Systems for enhanced sustainability. The 
Company will leverage Mr. Busby’s expertise to better engage with architects worldwide and grow 
awareness of SHARC Energy within the industry and drive lead generation for its products. 
 

iv. Dermot Sweeny appointed to the Board of Directors 
 
On October 18, 2023, the Company announced the appointment of Dermot Sweeny, President and 
Founder of Sweeny & Co Architects Inc. (“Sweeny & Co”), to its Board of Directors. Mr. Sweeny’s 
extensive experience and dedication to sustainable architectural design directly aligns with SHARC 
Energy’s mission of advancing environmentally responsible energy solutions. 
 
Mr. Sweeny has an impressive track record of advocating for sustainable building practices, 
emphasizing the reduction of carbon footprints, and promoting health and wellness within 
architectural spaces. His firm, Sweeny & Co, has achieved numerous awards from reputable 
institutions, like the Canadian Green Building Council and the Urban Land Institute, for their 
sustainable building designs. 
 
Mr. Sweeny’s extensive expertise and industry knowledge make him a valuable addition to our 
team, propelling the Company towards becoming the premier solution in the sustainable energy 
sector. His contribution will play a pivotal role in advancing our mission and establishing SHARC 
Energy as the leading choice for sustainable energy solutions, delivering unparalleled ROI within 
the industry. 
 
With a strong background in mixed-use, residential, commercial, and institutional architecture, Mr. 
Sweeny brings a wealth of knowledge that will be instrumental in guiding the Company’s strategic 
direction. His understanding of real estate development, sustainability, and development consulting 
will be invaluable as the Company continues to grow and seeks to enhance shareholder value 
through sustainable initiatives. 
 
Some of Mr. Sweeny’s notable projects include Queen Richmond Centre West, Waterfront 
Innovation Centre, and One York-Sunlife’s HQ in Toronto, showcasing his ability to blend innovative 
systems with high-performance, sustainable designs. Many of the Class AAA office buildings 
designed by Sweeny & Co are LEED Platinum or Gold and have won numerous sustainability 
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awards. These projects reflect a synergy with SHARC Energy’s goals of optimizing value while 
adhering to a responsible environmental ethos. 
 
Currently, Sweeny & Co has designed Wastewater Energy Transfer (“WET”) equipment, for the 
purposes of sustainable heating, cooling and hot water, into as many as ten upcoming projects.  
Architectural designs represent the earliest opportunity to introduce SHARC Energy equipment to 
a project and fostering the adoption of SHARC Energy products by Architects is crucial to the 
Company’s success. 
 

v. Purchase Order Received for Phase 1 of transformative $1.2B development to create 2,400 
affordable homes, medical clinic, and retail in Brooklyn, New York 

The Company has completed the final submittal process with its New York State representative 
HIGHMARK and has received a purchase order for a SHARC 660 Wastewater Energy Transfer 
(“WET”) system to be included in the first phase of a transformative $1.2 billion redevelopment in 
Brooklyn’s East New York neighborhood led by Apex Building Company, L+M Development 
Partners, RiseBoro Community Partnership, and Services for the Underserved.  

In December 2022,  New York State Governor Kathy Hochul announced that construction had 
begun for the redevelopment of the former 27-acre Brooklyn Developmental Center property in 
Brooklyn's East New York neighborhood. The initial $373 million phase will create 576 affordable 
homes, a new 15,000-square-foot outpatient medical clinic, and 7,000 square feet of ground floor 
retail space. The initial phase of the development is comprised of two buildings featuring a SHARC 
system and a PIRANHA system. The Company is working with HIGHMARK on the final submittal 
for the PIRANHA system and expects that purchase order soon. 

As stated in the announcement by Governor Hochul, “Both buildings in the initial phase are 
designed to meet Passive House design standards and will utilize a closed loop geothermal heat 
pump system for energy efficient heating and cooling. There will also be a roof-mounted solar array 
that will convert solar energy into electricity and a SHARC wastewater heat recovery system that 
uses energy from wastewater for heating, cooling and hot water.” 

Once completed, the entire development, known as Alafia, will ultimately create more than 2,400 
affordable homes in a walkable neighborhood with recreational spaces and access to community 
resources that promote health and wellness. Alafia is part of the State's Vital Brooklyn Initiative that 
is addressing chronic social, economic, and health disparities in Brooklyn's high-need communities.  

It is anticipated that this system will ship in Q1 2024. 
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vi. Purchase order received for Whitney Young Manor project in New York State 
 
On September 12, 2023, the Company announced it has received a purchase order for a SHARC 
Wastewater Energy Transfer (“WET”) system for the Whitney Young Manor recapitalization project 
in Yonkers, New York. This project, spearheaded by Nuveen, is a successful project moving 
forward under the New York State Energy Research & Development Authority’s (“NYSERDA”) 
Empire Building Challenge.   
 
As part of a major property recapitalization, the Whitney Young Manor will undergo a $22 million 
renovation, with nearly $12 million allocated to the project’s decarbonization effort, inclusive of all 
energy efficiency measures. The retrofit project will showcase how to leverage a recapitalization 
opportunity to comprehensively retrofit energy systems and modernize an affordable housing 
complex. SHARC Energy and its New York representative HIGHMARK are proud to be supporting 
this project, as it serves as an example of Energy and Climate Equity investment into historically 
underserved and marginalized communities. 
 
In addition to major building envelope and ventilation upgrades, Nuveen will install a SHARC 660 
WET system at Whitney Young Manor that will support a centralized heat pump system providing 
all heating, cooling and domestic hot water needs for the two twelve-story, affordable, 195-unit 
multi-family buildings. 
 
Whitney Young Manor is a significant project in New York’s sustainable urban development 
landscape and is supported by NYSERDA’s Empire Building Challenge. The Empire Building 
Challenge is built on successful public-private partnerships between NYSERDA and leading real 
estate owners, their engineering experts and solution providers, which are crucial to advancing 
New York’s goals of a carbon-neutral building stock as the State grows its green economy. Under 
this program, NYSERDA has partnered with 16 real estate portfolio owners that collectively control 
over 220 million square feet of commercial and multifamily real estate in New York, including 70,000 
housing units. Decarbonization actions taken by Empire Building Challenge partners, such as this 
project by Nuveen, will help to set a precedent for replicable low-carbon solutions that will inform 
the next decade of real estate investment in energy efficiency, sustainability, and healthy indoor 
environments.   
 
SHARC Energy’s inclusion in this project underscores its growing prominence in the greater New 
York market. As New York State intensifies its focus on electrification, reducing carbon emissions, 
conserving fresh water, and improving climate resiliency, SHARC Energy is strategically positioned 
to cater to these concerns. For stakeholders, the message is clear: New York is leading the nation’s 
green energy boom, and SHARC Energy is at the heart of it. 

It is anticipated that this system will ship in Q1 2024. 

 
vii. False Creek NEU Expansion   

 
The Company has entered into a Supply and Maintenance Agreement with the City of Vancouver 
(the “City”), for the provision and maintenance of five SHARC Systems for the False Creek NEU  
Expansion.  The expansion is expected to increase the capacity of the current 3.2MW of WET 
system to 9.8MW—making it the largest WET project in North America, with an additional 
carbon emission reduction of an estimated 4,400 tonnes a year, upon completion in 2023. 
 
Under the agreement, SHARC Energy will supply and commission five SHARC systems to perform 
sewage screening for the False Creek NEU and, subsequently, maintain these systems for five 
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years with a City option for an additional five years. These systems will be paired with the current 
3.2MW sewage-to-water heat pump in operation plus two new 3.3MW heat pumps. 
 
The False Creek NEU began operation in 2010 and has rapidly expanded to serve over 600,000 
square metres of residential, commercial and institutional space including Science World and Emily 
Carr University. In accordance with the 2018 NEU expansion plan, the False Creek NEU will 
continue to expand to serve over 1,900,000 square metres of new development in Southeast False 
Creek, Mount Pleasant, the False Creek Flats and Northeast False Creek. The NEU targets 70% 
of its energy supply to come from renewable energy sources with a goal of 100% renewable energy 
by 2030 as a part of the Climate Emergency Action Plan. The utility is self-funded, simultaneously 
providing affordable rates to customers and a return on investment to City taxpayers. 
 
SHARC Energy began working with the City in 2017 when it retrofitted two SHARC systems for 
sewage screening into the False Creek NEU as a pilot. Upon successful demonstration, the 
Company entered a lease on these units with the City of Vancouver which is now being replaced 
with the expansion of the system—demonstrating the important role that wastewater energy 
transfer plays in renewable energy and reducing carbon emissions. 
 
“This project is a crucial step forward to ensure the NEU can continue to provide reliable, cost 
effective, low carbon energy to the growing network of connected buildings.  We are excited to be 
able to leverage the local innovation and expertise offered by SHARC for screening in-coming 
sewage, a crucial step in the sewage heat recovery process.” says City of Vancouver NEU Manager 
Derek Pope. 
 
“We have seen firsthand through a successful pilot demonstration the high performance of the 
SHARC system and look forward to continued collaboration through this agreement as we work to 
transition away from fossil fuels to a more sustainable future.” 
 
The major components of the SHARC WET systems have been delivered to site. The final 
milestones for the supply contract, including commissioning and field testing of the SHARC WET 
systems, are anticipated to complete by the end of 2024. 
 

viii. PIRANHA receives North American Certification 
 
The PIRANHA WET system has successfully completed testing in compliance with CSA/UL 
Standards 60335-2-40, and NSF 5. The PIRANHA series will now bear the Electrical Testing 
Laboratories (“ETL”) listed mark indicating to distributors and customers that the product is 
compliant to North American standards and provides a pathway for the PIRANHA series to gain 
compliance in key North American markets requiring state approval. 
 
The award of the ETL listed mark to the PIRANHA series is more than a symbol of compliance; it 
is a testament to SHARC Energy's commitment to delivering quality and safety in its innovative 
products. This mark is widely recognized across the United States and Canada, not only by 
authorities and code officials as evidence of adherence to industry standards, but also by 
customers and consumers as an assurance of safety and reliability. The attainment of this 
certification opens doors for SHARC Energy, facilitating market penetration in North America and 
serving as a valuable credential in expanding to other global markets with stringent product 
compliance requirements. 
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Furthermore, the ETL listed mark equips SHARC Energy with a trusted mark, enhancing the 
marketability of the PIRANHA series. This certification is expected to boost customer confidence, 
leading to increased demand. It also positions SHARC Energy as a leader in the WET industry, 
reflecting the company's dedication to innovation, safety, and environmental stewardship. 
 
With the receipt of this mark, the Company is now eligible to file for approval in other key markets 
with their own product compliance regulations such as Massachusetts and California. The 
Company is shifting its focus to receiving these approvals. 
 

ix. PIRANHAs in Canada’s Capital  
 
HTS Ontario, a representative of SHARC Energy products, were selected to supply two PIRANHA 
T15 WET systems to be installed in Ottawa. These units will help a new housing complex recover 
the thermal energy from wastewater. This project represents the second PIRANHA site in Ottawa, 
Ontario. The units were shipped to site in Q1 2023. 
 
This deal is a key milestone as it marks the beginning of HTS’s growing SHARC Energy pipeline 
turning over and it validates the Company’s strategy to support and leverage its representative 
network to help grow awareness and sales for its products in key markets.  
 

x. Snowmass Base Village, Colorado installs PIRANHA  
 
A PIRANHA T15  WET system will be installed in Aura’s 21 slope-side residences, powered 100% 
by renewable energy resources within the residential building. Aura’s team is led by East West 
Partners, a developer of high-end mountain resort communities, and supported by SHARC 
Energy’s Colorado distributor, LONG Building Technologies. This unit shipped in Q2 2023. 

Once completed, Aura will be the fourth installation of a SHARC system in Colorado, supporting 
the state’s goal of reducing carbon emissions by 90% from the building sector by 2050. SHARC 
Energy’s PIRANHA systems are installed in the Boulder Commons Phase II project, a 98,000-
square-foot development consisting of offices and multi-family residential buildings and 30PRL 
Apartments, a 120-unit affordable housing project in Boulder. The SHARC series, an industrial-
sized WET system is installed in National Western Center. 

xi. Partnership with Subterra Renewables 

The Company and Subterra Renewables, a leading full-service geothermal drilling provider with a 
proprietary EaaS model known as Aura™, announced on April 27, 2023, a strategic partnership to 
revolutionize the renewable thermal energy transfer landscape across North America. By 
combining Systems, the partnership aims to bring unparalleled solutions to the market, capturing a 
greater share for both companies. 

Aura’s proprietary EaaS model offers clients sustainable heating, cooling, and domestic hot water 
solutions, without the upfront capital investment. The model includes a pricing guarantee, ensuring 
that clients will experience cost savings in comparison to conventional systems while enjoying the 
benefits of renewable thermal energy over the 25-to-50-year term of their fixed price service 
contract. At the end of the term of the contract, ownership of the Systems will revert to the customer. 

Under the five-year term of the agreement, SHARC Energy and Subterra Renewables will co-
develop up to $100M of qualified projects that consist of either the acquisition of existing Systems 
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active in the field today or the development of Systems requiring capital to design, build, own, 
operate and maintain (“Projects”), with an option to renew the commitment for an additional $100M 
if the initial $100M of qualified projects is identified within the initial five-year term . SHARC Energy 
will be responsible for business development, client engagement and securing letters of intent on 
a first right of refusal basis while Subterra, with over 25 years of experience and 60+ drills in its 
fleet, will provide support in project management, engineering, finance, accounting, legal, and asset 
management, leveraging their expertise in delivering turnkey solutions for heating, cooling, and 
domestic hot water. Upon completion of the deployment of $200M or expiration of the term, 
Subterra will receive a first right of refusal on any similar relationship for one year. 

This collaboration will strengthen SHARC Energy's and Subterra Renewables’ market position, 
making it a viable solution for developers, investors, and governments seeking to invest in 
sustainable energy infrastructure. The integration of wastewater and geothermal technologies will 
create a competitive advantage for both companies, driving market share growth and diversifying 
revenues for SHARC Energy and its shareholders. 

xii. SHARC International Patent Application Filed 
 
The Company has filed an international patent application under the Patent Cooperation Treaty 
(PCT) for its latest design of the SHARC system. This filing allows the latest SHARC design to 
become patent pending globally for 30 months from the date of filing the PCT application. The 
Company can now decide what countries it would like to file patent applications in and has already 
filed in the United States and EU.  
 
The Company leveraged funding made available by Global Affairs and the Trade Commissioners 
Service through the CanExport SME program to file. 
 

xiii. Accelerating Lead and Deal Generation 
 
As part of SHARC Energy’s commitment to continuous improvement, the Company has leveraged 
in-house technology to make key infrastructure advances that have increased overall business 
intelligence and visibility into Sales and Operational performance.  The improvements impact 
interdepartmental communication, better forecasting and capacity planning, improved quote 
turnaround time, and granularity of opportunity tracking. 
 
During 2022, the Company performed 68 project assessments (leads), representing a trend of ~6 
leads generated per month. Of these 68 technically qualified sales leads, 37 have requested a 
formal quote (deal) representing a conversion rate of over 50%. Once a deal enters a detailed 
design stage (Sales Pipeline), it becomes probable that the deal will convert into a purchase order 
(Sales Order Backlog) within the next 24 months of entering Sales Pipeline.  
 
The growth in leads and deals has materially accelerated in the first two months of 2023 with 65 
total leads created—of which 36 have already been converted into deals. Also, there are currently 
36 leads pending conversion to deals which SHARC Energy expects to either convert to deals or 
removed from lead status within 90 days. The Company believes the growth in leads and deals is 
due to several factors including increasing regulation and policy supporting the adoption of WET 
technology and the dedicated work of its internal team and partners presenting SHARC Energy 
solutions in the market. 
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Industry Developments 
 

i. Washington State Governor Jay Inslee Briefed on SHARC Energy WET Systems 
 
SHARC Energy was presented during the recent visit of Governor Jay Inslee to Coastline 
Equipment, Inc., a key partner and supporter of SHARC Energy, at Coastline’s Bellingham, 
Washington operation. The visit underscores SHARC Energy's growing market presence and the 
growing recognition of its pioneering work in Wastewater Energy Transfer (“WET”). 
 
Governor Inslee, accompanied by a distinguished group of attendees including Bellingham Mayor 
Seth Fleetwood, State Senator Sharon Shewmake, representatives from United States Senator 
Maria Cantwell's Office, and Clean Tech Alliance President and CEO Mel Clark, toured Coastline 
Equipment's facilities. The tour highlighted the production of the PIRANHA WET system, a 
groundbreaking product developed by SHARC Energy and being produced by Coastline in 
Washington State. 
 
During the visit, Governor Inslee gained insights into the potential of Wastewater Energy Transfer 
and SHARC Energy's unique ability to create low-carbon, energy efficient & energy resilient 
Thermal Energy Networks (“TENs”) and Thermal Energy Storage (“TES”) Systems from a 
previously unrecognized renewable energy resource—Wastewater.  
 
Governor Inslee was also briefed on the King County Wastewater Heat Recovery Pilot Project, a 
pioneering initiative that allows private parties to utilize the thermal energy in publicly-owned 
wastewater infrastructure. This project, in conjunction with SHARC Energy's technology, could 
potentially support the decarbonization of all of Seattle's hot water and heating needs, while also 
providing freshwater saving and electrically efficient cooling. 
 
SHARC Energy extends its gratitude to Governor Inslee and all attendees for their interest and 
engagement. This visit marks a significant step in acknowledging wastewater as a renewable 
resource, a critical component of climate action policy that can help unlock key governmental goals. 
 
 

ii. Washington State First State to Mandate Newly Constructed Buildings be Outfitted with All-
Electric and Space Heating and Hot Water Systems 

Washington State will require all-electric space and water heating in new commercial and multi-
family construction, making it the first state to incorporate building electrification mandates into 
statewide energy codes. 

On April 2022 the Washington State Building Code Council, or SBCC, voted to adopt a revised 
energy code that requires most new commercial and large multi-family buildings to install electric 
heat pumps for space and water heating. In November 2022, the SBCC approve similar regulations 
for single-family and smaller multi-family buildings. These mandates, which will go into effect July 
1, 2023, will require the majority of new homes in the state of Washington to utilize heat pumps for 
both space and water heating. 

The Company and its Representative CHC remain optimistic that this code change will lead to 
growth of SHARC Energy’s product market in Washington State in the coming years.  
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iii. New York City and New York State Going All-Electric Building Code 
 
In December 2021, the New York City Council approved Local Law 154 which aims to phase out 
fossil fuels out of new construction starting in 2024. This law means new buildings, with few 
exceptions, will be all-electric and emit less carbon, all while improving local air quality and 
making occupants more comfortable. 
 
Beginning January 1, 2024, the requirements will be phase in with lower-rise buildings in 2024 
and taller buildings in mid-2027. 
 
In February 2023, Governor Kathy Hochul announced the All-Electric Building Act (Senate Bill 
S562A) prohibits the use of fossil fuels being used for power, heating and cooking in new 
buildings constructed in the state.  
 
It is anticipated these changes to the building codes will result in growing demand for WET 
products. 
 

iv. New York Governor Hochul Signs Utility Thermal Network and Jobs Act 
 
On July 5, 2022, Governor Kathy Hochul signed three bills including legislation A.10493/S.9422, 
which allows utilities to own, operate, and manage thermal energy networks, as well as supply 
distributed thermal energy, with Public Service Commission (PSC) oversight. Heating and cooling 
networks – also referred to as community thermal or district energy systems – are a resilient, energy 
efficient, and clean solution that can also help New York State meet its ambitious climate goals. By 
leveraging multiple sources of existing waste heat (such as water, wastewater, and geothermal, 
among others) and connecting a diverse set of building types on a shared loop, thermal energy 
networks can provide significant operating and energy cost savings when compared to more 
traditional heating and cooling methods, while also reducing demand on the electric grid.  
 
The Company anticipates this bill will spur SHARC WET district energy, or TENs, projects in New 
York State. 
 

v. Mechanical Contractors Association of America (“MCAA”) Student Chapter Competition 
Showcasing National Western Center 
 
Twenty-two MCAA student chapters recently submitted a mock proposal for the installation of the 
National Western Center Campus Energy project as part of MCAA Annual Student Chapter 
Competition. 
 
The Final Four for the competition included California Polytechnic State University, Farleigh 
Dickinson University, McMaster University and Pittsburg State University. The Merit Award winner 
teams for the competition include Ball State University, Kent State University, Purdue University, 
University of Maryland College Park, University of Washington, and Wentworth Institute of 
Technology.  
 
The teams presented their proposals on the afternoon of March 28th at MCAA23 in Phoenix, 
Arizona, where the next generation of mechanical contractors competed for the first prize of 
$10,000. The contest required students to submit proposals for the installation of three 1000-ton 
cooling towers, six 6000-mbh boilers, a SHARC WET system, plate and frame heat exchangers, 
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pumps, piping and supporting infrastructure. In the end, Pittsburg State University came away from 
the competition as the National Champion.  
 
The contest highlights the increasing popularity of wastewater energy transfer among young 
Science, Technical, Engineering and Mathematics (“STEM”) enthusiasts, who are actively 
engaging with SHARC Energy’s proprietary technology to develop more sustainable solutions for 
heating and cooling buildings today and into the future. 

Selected Annual Financial Information 

 Year ended December 31, 
 2022 2021 2020 
Revenue 1,941,737 2,696,772 630,568 
Adjusted EBITDA loss (non-GAAP Measure) (2,620,125) (1,408,424) (1,428,975 
Loss from continuing operations (4,817,966) (3,044,988) (2,894,339) 
Loss from for the year (4,817,966) (3,044,988) (2,894,339) 
Continuing operations basic and diluted loss per share (0.05) (0.03) (0.05) 
Total Basic and Diluted Loss per share (0.05) (0.03) (0.05) 
 As at December 31, 
 2022 2021 2020 
Total Assets 3,153,969 5,970,385 4,370,634 
Long-Term Liabilities 226,869 3,329,160 5,208,145 
Working Capital (2,229,492) 3,345,436 3,316,997 

 

For 2022, the Company increased spending into Sales Pipeline & Sales Order Backlog growth through 
increased headcount which resulted in higher wages & benefits and share-based payments paid. Although 
Revenue decreased by 28% in 2022 in comparison to 2021, Sales Pipeline & Sales Order Backlog 
increased by nearly 70% in 2022 from an aggregate of $6.58M as reported November 15, 2021 in 
comparison to 11.06M reported November 29, 2022. Also, the Company was able to extinguish $1.67M 
face value of convertible debt while $3.95M face value of convertible debt became current liability during 
the course of 2022. 

2021 has seen the Company achieve significant revenue growth as it reached $2.7M which represented a 
328% increase from 2020. The significant increase in sales along with the conversion of convertible debt 
and exercise of warrants, options and brokers compensation warrants during 2021 helped the company 
continue to maintain its working capital level during the year which resulted in an ending balance of $3.3M.  

During 2020, the Company restructured and recapitalized its balance sheet through the Settlement 
Agreements with Debenture holders of the 12% maturing debentures and raising of capital through a 
combination of convertible debt, equity and equity unit financing. The Company continued to build and grow 
its focused equipment sales model through a combination of direct and indirect sales network. SHARC 
Energy entered 2021 capitalized for over 12 months of operation with nearly $3.3M in working capital.  
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

A summary of selected information for each of the eight most recent quarters is as follows: 

 

Three months 
ended, 

 Loss for the period Adjusted EBITDA $ Total Assets at each 

Total Revenue Total $ $ Per Share (non-GAAP Measure) Report date $ 

30-Sep-2023 545,350 (905,122) (0.01) (632,130) 4,464,977 

30-Jun-2023 454,454 (1,637,808 (0.01) (523,469) 5,274,647 

31-Mar-2023 733,686 (754,573) (0.01) (437,627) 3,651,547 

31-Dec-2022 809,149 (1,278,733) (0.01) (671,771) 3,153,969 

30-Sep-2022 81,799 (1,463,003) (0.01) (675,009) 3,877,489 

30-Jun-2022 166,768 (1,239,659) (0.01) (758,505) 4,135,883 

31-Mar-2022 884,021 (836,571) (0.01) (514,840) 5,509,795 

31-Dec-2021 975,751 (775,168) (0.01) (374,348) 5,970,385 

 
 

In the first half of 2021, the Company raised $2.0M through the exercise of warrants, debenture warrants, 
and options, and the issuance of common shares through private placement.  Furthermore, SHARC Energy 
shipped and installed its first retrofit implementation of a PIRANHA T15 under the FortisBC Custom 
Performance Program and its first PIRANHA T10 HC under the CleanBC Custom-Lite program.  

In the second half of 2021, the Company shipped a SHARC system and multiple PIRANHA systems, 
resulting in the largest revenue and first Adjusted EBITDA positive quarter in the Company’s history. Also, 
the Company shipped a SHARC system and completed approximately 50% of the installation for the lelәm̓ 
project and shipped a PIRANHA.  

In the first half of 2022, the Company completed the remaining 50% of the installation for the lelәm̓ project 
and shipped two PIRANHA T10s. 

For the second half of 2022, SHARC Energy shipped a SHARC 880 System, a PIRANHA T5 HC and began 
the fulfilment of the False Creek NEU expansion. 

For the first half of 2023, the Company shipped multiple PIRANHA T15 units to jobs in Ontario and 
Colorado. Furthermore, the Company continued to fulfil the False Creek NEU expansion project.  

For the second half of 2023 through to September 30, 2023, the major components of the 5 SHARC WET 
systems have been delivered to the False Creek NEU. Also, the Company received purchase orders and 
began production for SHARC WET Systems for 2 New York based projects, Vital Brooklyn and Whitney 
Young. 
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Overall Financial Performance 

The consolidated statements of financial position as of September 30, 2023, show a cash position of 
$2,004,856 (December 31, 2022- $1,069,813) and total current assets of $4,062,903 (December 31, 2022 
- $2,643,593). Current liabilities at September 30, 2023 total $535,470 (December 31, 2022 - $4,873,085).  

As at September 30, 2023, the Company had positive working capital of $3,527,433 (December 31, 2022 
–working capital deficit of $2,229,492).  

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, the Company reported a loss of $905,122 ($0.01 
basic and diluted loss per share) on revenue of $545,350 and a gross margin of $215,517 (40% margin). 
This compared to a loss of $1,463,003 ($0.01 basic and diluted loss per share) on revenue of $81,799 and 
a gross margin of $55,670 (68%) for the same period in the prior year.  

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company reported a loss of $3,297,503 ($0.02 
basic and diluted loss per share) on revenue of $1,733,490 and a gross margin of $744,748 (43% margin). 
This compared to a loss of $3,539,233 ($0.03 basic and diluted loss per share) on revenue of $1,132,588 
and a gross margin of $370,300 (33%) for the same period in the prior year.  

Discussion of Operations 

Three months ended September 30, 2023 compared with three months ended September 30, 2022 

SHARC Energy’s loss for the current period totaled $905,122, or a basic and diluted loss per share of $0.01. 
This compares with a loss of $1,463,003 with basic and diluted loss per share of $0.01 for the same period 
in the prior year. The improvement of $557,811 in loss for the current period was principally because: 

 For the three months ended September 30, 2023, revenue increased by $463,551, cost of sales 
increased $303,704 and the gross margin increased by $159,847.  

• For the three months ended September 30, 2023, revenue consisted of $3,600 from equipment 
leases, $13,890 from service and service agreement revenue from Vancouver, B.C. and Greater 
Vancouver Region installations, and $527,860 from the sale and continued progress of SHARC 
and PIRANHA systems sales. This compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022, 
where revenue consisted of $30,600 from equipment leases, $14,909 from service and service 
agreement revenue from Vancouver regional installations and $36,290 from the sale of a 
PIRANHA system. 

• Cost of goods sold in the three months ended September 30, 2023 consisted of costs associated 
with SHARC and PIRANHA system sales, service and rental expense. For the three months 
ended September 30, 2022, cost of goods sold consisted of costs associated with a PIRANHA 
system sale, services and rental expense.  

• Gross margin percentage (%) decreased from 68% during the three months ended September 
30, 2022 to 40% during the three months ended September, 2023. The Company contributed 
more revenue from system sales during the three months ended September 30, 2023, resulting 
in a decrease in margin percentage but an increase in gross margin earned, and an overall 387% 
increase in gross margin dollars.  
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 For expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2023, when compared to the comparative 
three months ended September 30, 2022: 

• interest and financing expense decreased by $181,579. During the first half of 2022, the Company 
extinguished a total of $1,580,000 face value of 8% convertible debt and during the first half of 
2023, extinguished $3,945,000 of 2% convertible debt resulting in decreased accretion expense. 
As of September 30, 2023, there is no longer any convertible debt on the balance sheet. 

• wages and benefits increased by $111,086. The Company averaged an employee headcount of 
16 during the three months ended September 30, 2023, compared to 17 during the comparative 
prior quarter. During the current period, expenses include wages and benefits for 3 sales staff of 
SHARC US, where the comparative period had 2 sales staff in SHARC US. 

• share-based payments decreased by $335,589. The decrease is primarily due to recognition of 
share purchase warrant expense in the comparative period related to the agreement entered into 
with Salas O’Brien. 

Nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared with nine months ended September 30, 2022 

SHARC Energy’s loss for the current period totaled $3,297,503, or a basic and diluted loss per share of 
$0.02. This compares with a loss of $3,539,233 with basic and diluted loss per share of $0.03 for the same 
period in the prior year. The improvement of $241,730 in loss for the current period was principally because: 

 For the nine months ended September, 2023, revenue increased by $600,902, cost of sales increased 
$226,454 and the gross margin increased by $374,448.  

• For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, revenue consisted of $64,800 from equipment 
leases, $40,650 from service and service agreement revenue from Vancouver, B.C. and Greater 
Vancouver Region installations and $1,628,040 from the sale and continued progress of SHARC 
and PIRANHA systems sales and projects. This compared to the nine months ended September 
30, 2022, where revenue consisted of $91,800 from equipment leases, $36,410 from service and 
service agreement revenue from Vancouver regional installations and $1,004,378 from sales 
and installation if PIRANHA systems and a SHARC system, respectively. 

• Cost of goods sold in the nine months ended September 30, 2023 consisted of costs associated 
with SHARC and PIRANHA system sales, service and rental expense. For the nine months 
ended September 30, 2022, cost of goods sold consisted of costs associated with a SHARC 
system and installation, a PIRANHA system sale, service and rental expense.  

• Gross margin percentage (%) increased from 32.7% during the nine months ended September 
30, 2022 to 43% during the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The comparative period 
included a sale where the Company acted as a general contractor and managed the installation 
of a SHARC system. General contracting revenue earns a lower margin than a supply-only sale. 
In the current period, SHARC Energy only supplied, serviced and leased WET equipment 
improving margins to levels consistent with management expectations. 
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 For expenses during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, when compared to the prior nine 
months ended September 30, 2022: 

• consulting expenses decreased by $32,506 and consists of fees paid to a Company controlled by 
the Chief Financial Officer, sales, IT, marketing and investor relations consultants. The decrease 
is attributed to a decrease in use of consultants overall. 

• interest and financing expense decreased by $426,930. During the first half of 2022, the Company 
extinguished a total of $1,580,000 face value of 8% convertible debt and during the first half of 
2023, extinguished $3,945,000 of 2% convertible debt resulting in decreased accretion expense. 
As of September 30, 2023, there is no longer any convertible debt on the balance sheet. 

• wages and benefits increased by $160,022. The Company averaged an employee headcount of 
17 during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, compared to 16 during the comparative 
prior quarter. However the roles included in the current period are more senior in nature compared 
to the roles in the comparative period. For example, the Company hired a President of SHARC 
US. Furthermore, the comparative period included one-time subsidies received from the 
Government of Canada totalling $36,541. 

• share-based payments increased by $559,803. The increase is primarily due to the fair value of 
3,773,585 warrants issued to Subterra Renewables in the amount of $735,008 and the vesting of 
stock options and RSUs issued on May 30, 2022, April 27, 2023 and June 29, 2023. 

• travel expenses decreased by $26,794. The comparative period saw increased business activity 
requiring travel as COVID-19 travel restrictions loosened across North America.  

Alternative Performance Measures 

Management evaluates the Company’s performance using a variety of measures, including “Adjusted 
EBITDA”, “Sales Pipeline” and “Sales Order Backlog”. The non-IFRS measures should not be considered 
as an alternative to or more meaningful than revenue or net loss. These measures do not have a 
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore they may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures presented by other publicly traded companies and should not be construed as an alternative to 
other financial measures determined in accordance with IFRS. The Company believes these non-GAAP 
financial measures provide useful information to both management and investors in measuring the financial 
performance and financial condition of the Company. Management uses these and other non-IFRS financial 
measures to exclude the impact of certain expenses and income that must be recognized under IFRS when 
analyzing consolidated underlying operating performance, as the excluded items are not necessarily 
reflective of the Company’s underlying operating performance and make comparisons of underlying 
financial performance between periods difficult. From time to time, the Company may exclude additional 
items if it believes doing so would result in a more effective analysis of underlying operating performance. 
The exclusion of certain items does not imply that they are non-recurring. 
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Adjusted EBITDA Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30, 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

  $ $ $ $ 

Loss before Income Taxes (905,122) (1,463,800) (3,297,549) (3,540,378) 
Adjustments:     

Interest and financing expense  5,407   186,986   240,068   666,998  
Interest income (8,986) (5,472) (15,714) (11,222) 
Depreciation  36,873   37,313   118,653   109,056  
Share-based payments  243,240   578,829   1,344,268   784,465  
Severance  -   -   -   62,104  
Research & development  -   19,063   14,664   32,960  
Foreign exchange (3,542) (26,088)  14,722  (36,574) 
Funding & other subsidies  -  (1,840) (11,986) (36,541) 
Warranty expense  -   -   -   20,778  

Adjusted EBITDA Loss  (632,130) (675,009) (1,592,874) (1,948,354) 

 

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure and does not have any standardized meaning prescribed 
by IFRS and is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. See 
“Non-IFRS Measure” below for additional information. 

For the three months ended September 30, 2023, the adjusted EBITDA loss improved by $42,879 from the 
same period in the previous year. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA loss is largely due to an increase in 
gross margin earned offset by a decrease in cash operating expenses. 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, adjusted EBITDA loss improved $355,480 compared with 
the same period in the previous year. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA loss is largely due to an increase 
in gross margin earned offset by a decrease in cash operating expenses. 

Sales Pipeline 

Sales Pipeline is defined as qualified prospective projects and installations that could convert into orders 
within approximately 24 months. Not all these potential projects and installations will proceed or proceed 
within the expected timeframe and not all the projects that do proceed will be awarded to SHARC Energy. 
Nevertheless, over time, this number gives a reasonable metric of changes in market activity and 
anticipated growth of the industry. 

As of November xx, 2023, the Company has $16.4M in Sales Pipeline. 

Sales Order Backlog 

Sales Order Backlog refers to the balance of unrecognized revenue from sales orders received with a 
deposit and/or shipment date and contracted projects, where such revenue is recognized over the period 
of the contract by reference to the stage of completion of each contract. 

As of November xx, 2023, the Company has $1.38M in Sales Order Backlog. 

Non-IFRS Measure 

Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental, non-GAAP financial measure. EBITDA is defined by the Company as 
earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation, and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA, as presented, 
additionally excludes impairment charges, all other non-cash items, and one-time transaction fees. 
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Management evaluates the Company’s performance using a variety of measures, including providing 
Adjusted EBITDA, sales pipeline and sales order backlog which is useful to investors’ understanding and 
assessment of the Company’s ongoing continuing operations and prospects for the future and it is used by 
the financial community to evaluate the market value of companies considered to be in similar businesses. 
Since Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with IFRS, it should not 
be considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, measures of performance prepared in accordance with 
IFRS. Adjusted EBITDA, as calculated and reconciled in the table above, may not be comparable to 
similarly titled measures employed by other companies. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA is not necessarily a 
measure of our ability to fund our cash needs. 

Sales Order Backlog  

Additions to Sales Order Backlog will be when a purchase order, deposit and/or shipment date is received 
from a customer or manufacturer representative, or a contract is signed for the supply or service of a 
system. Reductions to the amount in sales order backlog arise when units are shipped, and revenue is 
recognized or when a contract has been recognized by the stage of completion or completed and fulfilled. 

Sales Pipeline  

Additions to the amount in the Sales Pipeline come from situations where the Company has been specified 
on a request for proposal (“RFP”), has been specified on a winning bid in an RFP process, has been 
included in a stage of design for a project, the project has been verbally awarded by customer, a signed 
sales quote or not to exceed sales quote has been received or a deposit has been received without a firm 
shipment date.  

Reductions to the amount in the Sales Pipeline arise when the Company loses a quote or bid, the project 
owner decides not to proceed with the project, the final design changes the equipment selection originally 
quoted or, where a quote in the pipeline is converted to the order book and therefore, converted into Sales 
Order Backlog. 
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Liquidity and Financial Position 

As of September 30, 2023, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $36,694,650 and has working 
capital of $3,527,433. The Company will continue to pursue opportunities to raise additional capital through 
equity markets and/or debt to fund its operating activities. Management anticipates it has sufficient working 
capital to maintain its activities for the next 12 months.   

As of September 30, 2023, the Company’s cash balance was $2,004,856 (December 31, 2022 - 
$1,069,813) and the Company had working capital of $3,527,433 (December 31, 2022 – working capital 
deficit of $2,229,492).  

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had 156,949,660 common shares issued and outstanding, 
8,773,585 warrants outstanding, and 7,880,543 options outstanding. If all warrants and options were 
exercised, $4,598,083 in cash would be raised.  

Cash used in continuing operating activities was $2,696,126 for the nine months ended September 30, 
2023 (September 30, 2022 - $944,539). Operating activities were affected by the loss for the period of 
$3,297,503 partially offset by non-cash expenses of $1,692,465 and a negative change in non-cash working 
capital balances of $1,091,088 due to a decrease in accounts payable offset by an increase in inventory. 

The Company has the following undiscounted lease payments: 

Not later than one year 141,400 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 52,682 
September 30, 2023 194,082 
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Related Party Transactions 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, 
and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel include 
officers and directors. 

The Company incurred the following charges with key management personnel: 

 
(i) The Company paid consulting fees to a company controlled by the Chief Financial Officer & Chief 

Operating Officer. 
 

(ii) The Company paid wages and benefits to the Chief Executive Officer and Director, the President of 
SHARC US, and the former Chief Operating Officer. 

 
(iii) Share-based payments was recognized in connection with the vesting of options granted to directors 

and officers of the Company. 
 

The following table summarizes the cash compensation paid to each related party. 

1. Payments are made to a company controlled by Mr. Pannu 

 

  

 Three months ended September 30, Nine months ended September 30, 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

  $ $ $ $ 

Consulting Fees [i] 39,000 39,000 117,000 117,000 

Wages and Benefits [ii] 143,635 52,465 262,644 307,370 

Share-based payments [iii] 149,824 42,651 392,614 227,183 

  332,459 134,116 772,258 651,553 

 Three months ended Nine months ended 

 September 30, September 30, 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

  $ $ $ $ 

Lynn Mueller 51,310 51,185 159,089 158,390 

Hanspaul Pannu1 39,000 39,000 117,000 117,000 

Michael Albertson 92,325 - 103,555 - 

Matt Engelhardt - 1,280 - 148,980 

  182,635 91,465 379,644 424,370 
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Share Capital 

As of the date of this MD&A, the Company had 156,949,660 (September 30, 2023 – 156,949,660) issued 
and outstanding common shares. 

Warrants outstanding for the Company at the date of this MD&A were as follows: 

Number of 
Warrants Expiry Date Exercise Price 

5,000,000 August 17, 2024 $0.400 

3,773,585 August 16, 2028 $0.265 

8,773,585 Total Outstanding  
 

Stock options outstanding for the Company at the date of this MD&A were as follows: 

Options Expiry Date Exercise Price 

  333,000  October 29, 2024 $0.090 

 2,485,000  January 19, 2025 $0.075 

  700,000  February 26, 2025 $0.125 

  200,000  March 16, 2025 $0.105 

 1,171,875  December 20, 2025 $0.345 

  924,622  May 30, 2027 $0.335 

 1,930,000  April 27, 2028 $0.270 

   136,046  June 29, 2028 $0.280 

100,000 October 17, 2028 $0.245 

 7,980,543  Total Outstanding  
  

Restricted Share units (“RSUs”) outstanding for the Company at the date of this MD&A were as follows: 

Options Expiry Date 
Share price on 
date of grant 

  1,635,332  December 31, 2024 $0.335 

 2,734,000  December 31, 2025 $0.270 

  385,402  December 31, 2025 $0.280 

 4,754,734  Total Outstanding  
 

 

 

. 
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Estimates, Judgments and Assumptions 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are 
continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 

The areas which require management to make significant judgments, estimates and assumptions in 
determining carrying values include, but are not limited to: 

Critical Judgments 

The following are critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Financial Statements: 

I. Research costs are recognized as an expense when incurred but development costs may be 
capitalized as intangible assets if certain conditions are met as described in IAS 38, Intangible 
Assets.  Management has determined that development costs do not meet the conditions for 
capitalization under IAS 38 and all research and development costs have been expensed. 
 

II. The Company recognizes the deferred tax benefit related to deferred income and resource tax 
assets to the extent recovery is probable. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets 
requires management to make significant estimates of future taxable profit. In addition, future 
changes in tax laws could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions from deferred 
income and resource tax assets. 
 

Estimation Uncertainty 

The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year: 

i. Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid 
based on a qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of 
these provisions at the end of the reporting period.  However, it is possible that at some future date 
an additional liability could result from audits by taxation authorities.  Where the final outcome of 
these tax-related matters is different from the amounts that were originally recorded, such 
differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 

ii. Warranty provisions are recognized for the future obligations to provide services for the repairs and 
maintenance of products sold to its customers. The Company assesses its warranty provision 
based on experience. Actual costs incurred may differ from those amounts estimated. 

 
iii. The Company estimates the net realizable values of inventories, considering the most reliable 

evidence available at each reporting date. The future realization of these inventories may be 
affected by future technology or other market drive changes that may reduce future selling prices. 
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iv. The Company has service agreements with regards to some of its product sales which requires 
management to make judgments regarding the timing and allocation of revenue. Specifically, 
installation is generally not assumed to have stand-alone value and is often recognized on the 
same basis as the remainder of the services fees. However, the Company defers the recognition 
of revenue associated with fees for services agreements or warranty costs that are built into the 
original sales price and recognizes the associated revenue evenly over the term of the service. 
 

v. The equity component of the convertible debenture is calculated using a discounted cash flow 
method which requires management to make an estimate on an appropriate discount rate. 
 

Capital Management 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to support the development of its business and maintain the necessary corporate 
and administration functions to facilitate these activities. The capital of the Company consists of items 
included in shareholders’ deficiency.  
 
The Company manages and adjusts its capital structure when changes to the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets or changes in economic conditions occur. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may attempt to raise new funds. 
 
There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period. The 
Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

Financial Instruments 

Fair value  

IFRS 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value that reflects the 
significance of inputs used in making fair value measurements as follows: 

Level 1  quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities, 
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. from derived prices); and 

Level 3  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based upon observable market data. 

The fair value of cash is based on Level 1 inputs. The fair value of the Company’s receivables, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and loans payable approximate their carrying values due to the short-term 
to maturity. The fair value of long-term liabilities is initially recorded at fair value and subsequently carried 
at amortized cost using rates comparable to market interest rates. The carrying value of the Company’s 
lease liabilities is measured as the present value of the discounted future cash flows. 

[a] Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Company’s cash and receivables are exposed to credit risk. The 
Company reduces its credit risk on cash by placing these instruments with institutions of high credit 
worthiness. Receivables are primarily from sales or loans. The Company believes these parties to be of 
sound creditworthiness, and to date, all receivables have been settled in accordance with agreed upon 
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terms and conditions. As at September 30, 2023, the Company is exposed to nominal credit risk arising 
from receivables. 

[b] Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances to enable 
settlement of transactions on the due date. The Company addresses its liquidity through debt financing. 
While the Company has been successful in securing financings in the past, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to do so in the future.  

[c] Market risk  

[i] Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. As at September 30, 2023, the Company is not exposed to 
any significant interest rate risk.   

Risks and Uncertainties 

Manufacturing Risks 

For the successful development of the Company’s manufacturing operations, the Company will require 
maintenance of production equipment, hiring and retaining of managerial personnel and skilled labour 
and maintaining of desirable levels of production. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
able to achieve and sustain these goals. The Company’s future success also depends on its ability to 
successfully achieve expected manufacturing capacity in a cost-effective and efficient manner. If the 
Company cannot do so, it may be unable to achieve and sustain profitability. The Company’s ability to 
achieve expected production capacity is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including the 
following: (a) delays and unexpected costs as a result of a number of factors, many of which may be 
beyond the Company’s control, such as its ability to secure successful contracts with equipment vendors, 
(b) failure to effectively break in new equipment, (c) delays or denial of required approvals by relevant 
government authorities, (d) unavailability of manufacturing inputs; and (e) failure to execute its expansion 
plans effectively. 

Regulatory Risks 

The activities of the Company will be subject to intense regulation by governmental authorities. 
Achievement of the Company’s business objectives is contingent, in part, upon compliance with 
regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and obtaining all regulatory 
approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Company cannot predict the time required 
to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation 
that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory 
approvals would significantly delay the development of markets and products and could have a material 
adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company. 

Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines 

The Company’s operations will be subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the 
manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of untreated wastewater but also 
including laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection 
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of the environment. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines due to matters beyond the control 
of the Company may cause adverse effects to the Company’s operations. 

Lack of Operating History 

The Company has only recently started to carry on its business. The Company is therefore subject to 
many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, 
limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. The failure by 
the Company to meet any of these conditions could have a materially adverse effect on the Company 
and may force it to reduce, curtail, or discontinue operations. There is no assurance that the Company 
will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success must 
be considered in light of the early stage of operations. The Company may not successfully address all 
of the risks and uncertainties or successfully implement its existing and new products and services. If 
the Company fails to do so, it could materially harm its business and impair the value of its common 
stock, resulting in a loss to shareholders. Even if the Company accomplishes these objectives, the 
Company may not generate the anticipated positive cash flows or profits. No assurance can be given 
that the Company can or will ever be successful in its operations and operate profitably. 

Reliance on Management and Key Personnel 

The success of the Company is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good 
faith of its senior management. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary 
method of retaining the services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued 
services of such employees. The Company attempts to enhance its management and technical expertise 
by recruiting qualified individuals who possess desired skills and experience in certain targeted areas. 
The Company’s inability to retain employees and attract and retain sufficient additional employees as 
well as information technology, engineering, and technical support resources could have a material 
adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of operation. Any loss of the services 
of such individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results 
or financial condition. 

Additional Financing 

The Company’s future capital requirements depend on many factors, including its ability to market 
products successfully, cash flows from operations, locating and retaining talent, and competing market 
developments. The Company’s business model requires spending money to generate revenue. Based 
on the Company’s current financial situation, the Company may have difficulty continuing operations at 
the current level, or at all, if it does not raise additional financing in the near future. 

To execute the Company’s business plan, the Company will require some additional equity and/or debt 
financing to undertake capital expenditures. There can be no assurance that additional financing will be 
available to the Company when needed or on terms which are acceptable. The Company’s inability to 
raise financing to support on-going operations or to fund capital expenditures could limit the Company’s 
operations and may have a material adverse effect upon future profitability.  

The Company may require additional financing to fund its operations to the point where it is generating 
positive cash flows. 

If additional funds are raised through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing 
shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, 
preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of Company Shares. Any debt financing secured 
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in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial 
and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain additional capital or 
to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. If adequate funds are not obtained, the 
Company may be required to reduce, curtail, or discontinue operations. There is no assurance that the 
Company’s existing cash flow will be adequate to satisfy its existing operating expenses and capital 
requirements. 

Competition 

There is potential that the Company will face intense competition from numerous other companies, some 
of which can be expected to have longer operating histories and more financial resources and 
manufacturing and marketing experience than the Company. Increased competition by larger and better 
financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the business, financial conditions, and results 
of operations of the Company. 

Because of early stage of the industry in which the Company operates, the Company expects to face 
additional competition from new entrants. To remain competitive, the Company will require a continued 
high level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales, and client support. The 
Company may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales 
and client support efforts on a competitive basis which could materially and adversely affect the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

Intellectual Property Risks 

The Company’s ability to compete largely depends on the superiority, uniqueness, and value of its 
intellectual property and technology, including both internally developed technology and the ability to 
acquire patent protection and/or trademark protection. To protect its proprietary rights, the Company will 
rely on a combination of trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, trademark and patent applications, 
confidentiality agreements with its employees and third parties, and protective contractual provisions. 
Despite these efforts, certain risks may reduce the value of the Company’s intellectual property. The 
Company’s applications for trademarks and copyrights relating to its business may not be granted, and 
if granted, may be challenged or invalidated. There is no guarantee that issued trademarks and 
registered copyrights will provide the Company with any competitive advantages. The Company’s efforts 
to protect its intellectual property rights may not be effective in preventing misappropriation of its 
technology and may not prevent the development and design by others of products or technology similar 
to, competitive with, or superior to those the Company develops. There is a risk that another party may 
obtain a blocking patent and the Company would need to either obtain a license or design around the 
patent in order to continue to offer the contested feature or service in its products. 

New Market Risks 

Extracting heat from raw sewage flows is a relatively new market and its long-term growth prospects are 
uncertain. Should the raw sewage heat market fail to expand, it would have a materially adverse effect 
on our business and financial position. 

Product Development Risks 

The development of additional products is subject to the risks of failure inherent in the development of 
new, state-of-the-art products, laboratory devices and products based on new technologies. These risks 
include: (i) delays in product development or manufacturing; (ii) unplanned expenditures for product 
development or manufacturing; (iii) failure of new products to have the desired effect or an acceptable 
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accuracy profile; (iv) emergence of superior or equivalent products; (v) failure by any potential 
collaborative partners to successfully develop products; and (vi) the dependence on third parties for the 
manufacture, development, and sale of the Company’s products. Because of these risks, our research 
and development efforts or those of potential collaborative partners may not result in any commercially 
viable products. If a significant portion of these development efforts is not successfully completed, or any 
products are not commercially successful, we are less likely to generate significant revenues, or become 
profitable. The failure to perform such activities could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, and results of its operations. 

The areas in which we plan to commercialize, distribute, and/or sell products involve rapidly developing 
technology. There can be no assurance that we will be able to establish ourselves in such fields, or, if 
established, that we will be able to maintain our market position, if any. There can be no assurance that 
the development by others of new or improved products will not make our present and future products, 
if any, superfluous or obsolete. 

Product Liability 

The devices and products that we intend to develop may expose us to potential liability from personal 
injury claims by end-users of the product. We intend to carry product liability insurance to protect us 
against the risk that in the future a product liability claim, or product recall could materially and adversely 
affect our business. Inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or otherwise 
to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our 
intended products. We cannot assure you that if and when we commence distribution of our product that 
we will be able to obtain or maintain adequate coverage on acceptable terms, or that such insurance will 
provide adequate coverage against all potential claims. Moreover, even if we maintain adequate 
insurance, any successful claim could materially and adversely affect our reputation and prospects and 
divert management’s time and attention. If we are sued for any injury allegedly caused by our future 
products our liability could exceed our total assets and our ability to pay the liability. 

Product Defects 

The Company’s products are complex and, accordingly, they may contain defects or errors, particularly 
when first introduced or as new versions are released. We may not discover such defects or errors until 
after a product has been released and used by end-customers. Defects and errors could materially and 
adversely affect our reputation, result in significant costs to us or the termination of an agreement, delay 
planned release dates and impair our ability to sell our products in the future. The costs incurred in 
correcting any product defects or errors may be substantial and could adversely affect our operating 
margins. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that our efforts to monitor, develop, modify and 
implement appropriate test and manufacturing processes for our products will be sufficient to permit us 
to avoid a rate of failure in our products that results in substantial delays, significant repair or 
replacement costs or potential damage to our reputation, any of which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We may also be subject to claims that our products are defective or that some function or malfunction 
of our products caused or contributed to damages. While we attempt to minimize this risk by 
incorporating provisions into our standard agreements that are designed to limit our exposure to 
potential claims of liability, we are not always able to negotiate such protections. In addition, no 
assurance can be given that all claims will be barred by the contractual provisions limiting liability or that 
the provisions will be enforceable. We may be liable for failure regarding the use of our products or 



 

SHARC INTERNATIONAL SYSTEMS INC.  NOVEMBER 28, 2023 32 

 
  

 

services. A significant liability claim against us could have a material adverse effect on our operating 
results and financial position 

Reliance on Key Inputs 

The Company’s business will be dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including 
raw materials and supplies related to its growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local 
utilities. Any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply 
chain for key inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the 
Company. Some of these inputs may only be available from a single supplier or a limited group of 
suppliers. If a sole source supplier was to go out of business, the Company might be unable to find a 
replacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. If sole source supplier were to be acquired by 
a competitor, that competitor may elect not to sell to the Company in the future. Any inability to secure 
required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact 
on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Company. 

Dependence on Suppliers and Skilled Labour 

The ability of the Company to compete and grow will be dependent on it having access, at a reasonable 
cost and in a timely manner, to skilled labour, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can 
be given that the Company will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, 
equipment, parts and components. 

Management of Growth 

The Company has, and may in the future, experience rapid growth and development in a relatively short 
period of time by aggressively marketing its products and services. The Company may be subject to 
growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal systems and controls. 
The ability of the Company to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to implement and 
improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee base. The 
inability of the Company to deal with this growth may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company are also directors and officers of other companies, 
and conflicts of interest may arise between their duties as officers and directors of the Company and as 
officers and directors of such other companies. 

Litigation 

The Company may be forced to litigate, enforce, or defend its intellectual property rights, protect its trade 
secrets, or determine the validity and scope of other parties’ proprietary rights. Such litigation would be 
a drain on the financial and management resources of the Company which may affect the operations 
and business of the Company. 

The Company may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business, which 
could adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Company becomes involved be 
determined against the Company such a decision could adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
continue operating and the market price for Company Shares and could use significant resources. Even 
if the Company is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant company resources. 
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The Market Price of Company Shares May Be Subject to Wide Price Fluctuations 

The market price of Company Shares may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many factors, 
including variations in the operating results of the Company, divergence in financial results from 
analysts’ expectations, changes in earnings estimates by stock market analysts, changes in the 
business prospects for the Company, general economic conditions, legislative changes, and other 
events and factors outside of the Company’s control. In addition, stock markets have from time-to-time 
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which, as well as general economic and political 
conditions, could adversely affect the market price for Company Shares. 

Environmental and Employee Health and Safety Regulations 

The Company’s operations will be subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of 
hazardous and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. The Company 
will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to compliance with environmental and employee health 
and safety matters. Failure to comply with environmental and safety laws and regulations may result in 
additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions on our manufacturing operations. In 
addition, changes in environmental, employee health and safety or other laws, more vigorous 
enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to the Company’s 
operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
results of operations and financial condition of the Company. 

Disclosure of Internal Controls 

Management has established processes to provide them sufficient knowledge  to  support  
representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the consolidated financial 
statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required 
to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under 
which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods presented by the consolidated financial statements; 
and (ii) the consolidated financial statements fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as of the date of and for the periods presented. 

In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109 
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), this Venture Issuer Basic 
Certificate does not include representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure 
controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 
52-109. In particular, the certifying officers filing this certificate are not making any representations 
relating to the establishment and maintenance of: 

i) controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 
required to be disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or 
submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within 
the time periods specified in securities legislation; and 

ii) a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s 
GAAP (IFRS). 

The issuer’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide them 
with sufficient knowledge to support the representations they are making in this certificate. Investors 
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should be aware that inherent limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design 
and implement on a cost-effective basis DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional 
risks to the quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports 
provided under securities legislation. 
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